Marie Solgard

A Vital Outlet for the British Left

Marxism Today as a discursive space, 1979-1983

Master's thesis in Language Studies with Teacher Education Supervisor: Gary Love May 2022



Marie Solgard

A Vital Outlet for the British Left

Marxism Today as a discursive space, 1979-1983

Master's thesis in Language Studies with Teacher Education Supervisor: Gary Love May 2022

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Humanities Department of Language and Literature



Abstract

This thesis is a study of the contributions to *Marxism Today* in the period 1979-1983. In order to add to our understanding of the intellectual history of *Marxism Today* and the politics of both the Labour Party and the Thatcher governments, this thesis systematically researches the contents of the magazine as a whole. More specifically, this thesis primarily takes on three major discussion points in *Marxism Today* at this pivotal moment for the left in Britain. First, the reasons for Labour's defeat at the 1979 General Election. Second, the left's reactions to the politics of the Thatcher government. Finally, debates about what alternative politics the left could offer in the future so that it could defeat Thatcherite conservatism.

Reference style: APA 7th for footnotes

Acknowledgements

This thesis marks the end of a five-year-long chapter in my life. These years, although at

times challenging and tedious, have been fantastic. My time at the university has

introduced me to several interesting and intelligent students, lecturers, and professors. I

am grateful for these encounters. You have all left an impression on me, and I cherish all

the engaging and, at times, heated discussions.

During the past few years, I have encountered many incredible people. You all

deserve my deepest gratitude. Thank you to my wonderful partner, who has encouraged

me and listened to me throughout this entire process. Also, this thesis would not have

happened if it was not for my family's reassurance and confidence in me. To my loving

parents, I am so grateful for your life-long support. My nonpareil friends have blessed me

with academic and emotional support. You were all indispensable to me in this process.

Again, thank you.

Without my brilliant supervisor, Dr Gary Love, this thesis would not be the same.

Your patience, helpful guidance, and enthusiasm for my thesis have made this process

enjoyable. I am proud of what I have accomplished, and you have played a significant role

in this. Your excellent advice has helped me shape a thesis that I genuinely believe will

contribute to scholarly studies on the subject.

Any errors that remain are my sole responsibility.

Marie Solgard

Trondheim, May 2022

ii

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Historical Context	1
Thesis Question	5
Historiography	5
Method, Sources, and Chapter Structure	7
The 1979 General Election	11
The External Factors Precipitating the Left's Decline	11
The Internal Factors Precipitating the Left's Decline	12
The Conservative Party's Narrative: Commonsense & Crisis	14
Historical Explanations of the Decline: Wilson and Callaghan	15
The Effects of the Ideological Issues Concerning the Left	16
Marxism Today's Views on The 1979 General Election	17
Thatcher's First Term, 1979-1983	19
Public Expenditure: Fighting the Cuts	19
Workers and Trade Unions: A Presentiment of Paralysis	20
The Attacking Nature of Thatcherism	21
Thatcher's Foreign Policies as a Disconcerting Issue for the Left	22
Desired Responses Expressed in Marxism Today	23
Marxism Today's Views on Thatcher's First Term	24
The Future of Leftist Politics	26
Possible Alliances on the Left	26
Taking on an Offensive: Active & Aggressive	28
The Need for Self-Examination on the Left	28
Internal Change as Prerequisite for Resurgence of Support	29
New Focus for the Left: Building an Alternative	30
Marxism Today's Views on The Future of Leftist Politics	31
Conclusion	33
References	36
Primary Sources	36
Secondary Sources	38
Appendix	41
The Thesis' Pelevance for My Work in the Norwegian Educational System	41

Introduction

Historical Context

Unsuccessful Labour governments

Labour held office for ten years with Harold Wilson in 1964-1970 and again in 1974-1976, then Jim Callaghan was prime minister for three years until the 1979 General Election. The periods with Wilson and Callaghan as prime ministers were and are still seen as inadequate. The scholar and previous policy and strategy advisor for the Labour Party, Patrick Diamond, wrote in his analysis of Labour's history for the past 40 years: "Labour administrations all too often abandoned their principles in office, embroiled in unseemly compromises."

Harold Wilson faced criticism during and between his periods as prime minister. Critics included members of the opposition and, surprisingly, members of his own shadow cabinet and administrations.³ Notably, his support of President Johnson's policy on Vietnam caused many of his supporters to turn their backs on him.⁴ When Wilson became the party leader, people saw him as the socialist left candidate.⁵ Therefore, when Wilson became prime minister, the voters expected to get a radical administration, but they did not.⁶ They got a much more moderate prime minister and government than initially anticipated. Wilson resigned in 1976, likely due to a combination of poor health, frustration, and age.⁷ Some interpreted his resignation as a way to protect himself because a sense of national crisis had started to form, which he did not resolve before he left office in 1976.⁸ His last two years as prime minister became a prologue to a crisis that Callaghan inherited when he became the Labour Party leader.⁹

Like Wilson, the new prime minister James Callaghan was seen as too mild and moderate. This view was shared on both sides of the political spectrum and sparked fear within the Conservative Party as it would be more challenging to fight against a centre-left politician than a far-left politician. Nevertheless, the Conservatives did not need to worry for long because economic crises and industrial unrest would bring down the Callaghan government.

The Winter of Discontent and the Rise of the New Right

In November 1978, a period of industrial unrest started known as 'the Winter of Discontent'. Increasing strikes and, coincidentally, the coldest winter since 1963 characterised the following months. A decline in Labour support followed the rise in the

¹ Diamond 2021: 73

² Diamond 2021: 45

³ Pimlott 1992: 619

⁴ Layborn 2002: 225

⁵ Heppell 2010: 151

⁶ Wilson was a member of a left-wing grouping in the Labour Party called 'Keep Left' (Layborn 2002: 224); it was rumoured that Wilson had sympathy for the Soviet Union (Wilson's Legacy 1995)

⁷ Layborn 2002 226

⁸ Pimlott 1992: 651, 623

⁹ Pimlott 1992: 724

¹⁰ Saunders 2012: 36

¹¹ Shepherd 2013: 147

¹² Nobbs 2015: Ch. 9 The Winter of Discontent, 1978/79, para. 1

number of strikes. Labour had only been able to return to office in 1974 because of its "perceived capacity to work with the unions in a way that the Conservatives had long since demonstrated they were unable to do."¹³ In 1978, it was proved that Labour *also* was unable to do so. This led to the 1979 vote of no confidence, the collapse of the Callaghan government, and Thatcher's success in the 1979 General Election.¹⁴ 'The Winter of Discontent' destroyed the government's reputation,¹⁵ and its memory continued to haunt Callaghan's successors.¹⁶ Callaghan left the Labour Party weaker than it had been in a generation,¹⁷ and the voters no longer believed that Labour meant what they said.¹⁸ Political scientist Colin Hay points out the importance of this event:

What makes the Winter of Discontent so significant an episode in the political history of modern Britain—the symbolic point of transition from the postwar consensus to Thatcherism, from Keynesianism to monetarism, from corporatism to austerity, from 'then' to 'now'—in the end owes little to the events themselves.¹⁹

The Winter of Discontent occurred just before the 1979 General Election, but Thatcher and the New Right²⁰ had been gaining momentum for a while. F.A. Hayek has been attributed as one of Thatcher's and the New Right's main inspirations through his book *The Road to Serfdom*, published in 1944—35 years before Thatcher became prime minister.²¹ In other words, 'New Right' ideas had their roots in earlier decades (1930s-1960s),²² but it was only in the 1970s that they influenced politicians more significantly. A younger generation of Conservatives advocated these ideas in the 1960s, but they had no influence until 1970. Scathing attacks from the left²³ towards the 'New Right' appeared in the 1960s.²⁴ There were various publications about the New Right theory at the time, and Enoch Powell stood for 'revisionist' economic rhetoric. This "set the scene" for Thatcher's politics.²⁵ Although there was a New Right before Thatcherism, it was Margaret Thatcher's victory that turned the theories of the New Right into 'perceived challenges'.²⁶

¹³ Hay 2009: 545

¹⁴ Shepherd 2013: 147-148

¹⁵ Diamond 2021: 76¹⁶ Shepherd 2013: 148

¹⁷ Layborn 2002: 54

¹⁸ Shaw 1994: 24

¹⁹ Hay 2009: 551

²⁰ The New Right is a cluster of components. Barker 1997 (p. 230) has listed certain aspirations and aversions of it. The list includes: hostility to socialism and Keynesian economics; active support of capitalism; hostility to universal social services and a fear of a 'dependency culture' amongst the ordinary working population; sustaining advocacy of individual responsibility in opposition to collective provision. For further reading on the New Right in Britain: Ben Williams (2021). The 'New Right' and its legacy for British conservatism. DOI:

^{10.1080/13569317.2021.1979139;} Desmond S. King (1988). New Right Ideology, Welfare State Form, and Citizenship: A Comment on Conservative Capitalism. https://www.jstor.org/stable/178936

²¹ Barker 1997: 239

²² Barker 1997: 247

²³ 'The left' refers to those who have a certain allegiance to the Labour Party. Simon Hannah argues "what defines the left is its 'transformative agenda', one that seeks 'far-reaching economic, social, constitutional and political changes that challenge the existing power relations in society'."(A Party with Socialists in It, as cited in du Cros 2022: 54) However, du Cros prefers the Family Resemblance Model because "rather than seeing two fundamentally opposed factions, it views the Labour Party in its entirety as a rich source of diverse concrete ideas which can be utilised to increase the effectiveness and validity of the Left." (du Cros 2022: 77). For the purpose of this thesis, a broad sense of the term 'the left' will be applied.

²⁴ Barker 1997: 253

²⁵ Williams 2021: 3

²⁶ Barker 1997: 253

The New Right policies were opposite to those of the left and possibly damaging in the sense that they could weaken those institutions and organisations with which Labour and the left had strong ties. After WW2, leftist ideals such as universal welfare and extended public sectors became a focus in British politics.²⁷ Trade unions and public institutions grew stronger under these conditions. When Thatcher won, these ideas and institutions faced an attack.

The Forward March Halted: The General Election of 1979

Tara Martin states that 'the Winter of Discontent' had its roots in the dissolution of the 'postwar consensus' and that it was a pivotal moment for the Labour Party. ²⁸ When Labour lost the 1979 General Election, traditional labour interest's ²⁹ decline was confirmed. The abandonment of consensus politics meant a significant change in economics and values. Martin stated that this period of unease became a source of internal division within the party. ³⁰ After Callaghan, the Labour Party was completely divided; "After Labour's defeat in 1979 the smouldering tensions between left and right ignited into a veritable civil war encompassing organisational as well as ideological and policy matters." ³¹

The Labour Party now found itself in opposition, and the battles within the party were a part of a period of reflection and debate. The different sides of the Labour Party pitched each other as antagonists, and the leadership became unable to create compliance.³² The prominent Labour politician Tony Benn argued in 1981 that to overcome their issues, Labour had to promote and implement a radical programme.³³ There was a sense of agreement that the Labour Party and the British Left had to develop.³⁴ This period became the last dice roll for harder leftist politics; Thatcher was at her weakest, but she would soon start implementing what Thatcherism stood for momentarily.

Marxism Today, Martin Jacques, and the Discursive Landscape of the Left

In the wake of 1979, there was much soul-searching on the left about its political future; some of the most important debates took place in the journal *Marxism Today*. The contributions in the magazine were part of the process of looking at the crisis of the Labour Party and the left and assessing 'what had been done?' and 'what can be done?'. Many saw the crisis of the left and Labour as one of class politics, and the class debate was central in *Marxism Today*.³⁵ The contributors gained influence in the politics of the left and Labour. Simultaneously, the Thatcher government attacked institutions and organisations traditionally linked with the left. They had to react quickly to an increasingly aggressive politic on the right and, at the same time, deal with the fragmentation within its own ranks. *Marxism Today* was a key outlet for leftist opinion, which contributed to broader debates about how the left should respond to the policies of the Thatcher government.

Colm Murphy states that "Marxism Today remains totemic in left-wing debate" within and outside of academia, which is significant as there was a diverse print culture at

²⁷ Gamble 1988: 49-50

²⁸ Martin 2009: 50

²⁹ Such as solid trade unions and an extensive welfare state.

³⁰ Martin 2009: 51

³¹ Shaw 1994: 1

³² Shaw 1994: 21

³³ Shaw 1994: 24

³⁴ Diamond 2021: 23-24

³⁵ Andrews 2004: 210

the time.³⁶ There are several recent examples of how historical accounts of the 1980s have continued to rely on contributions to *Marxism Today*, such as those by Stuart Hall, to explain the leftist views of the time.³⁷ The magazine was influential at its peak, and it remains an object of study and reference today. An investigation of *Marxism Today*'s contribution and debates can help us understand why historians and thinkers on the left have given the magazine so much attention.

The magazine *Marxism Today* was founded in 1957, and it published its last issue in 1991. Its original purpose was to be a theoretical magazine for the Communist Party in Britain.³⁸ However, the ties with the CPGB were loosened as their support declined, particularly in the 1950s.³⁹ They lost the ability to carry out political action, and they had to seek a broader alliance to reach their aims. Young communists worked together with others as part of the broader left allowing the magazine to appeal to a broader audience.⁴⁰ During Thatcher's time as prime minister, its content was directed toward the whole left⁴¹, and it reached its peak in popularity.⁴² Its editor was the scholar Martin Jacques. In an interview with *the Australian Left Review*, Jacques states that the magazine had:

A preparedness, by the late seventies, to come to terms with what was happening in politics both at home and overseas. In practice, this meant confronting Thatcherism and the crisis of the labour movement. These two themes became the hallmarks of the present political phase. It was that confrontation with reality that set *Marxism Today* apart from virtually everything else on the left. ⁴³

Jacques sought to encourage a different type of discourse in *Marxism Today* than what had been the standard under his predecessor, James Klugmann. He wanted the magazine "to explore 'strategic questions' and 'topical political issues', and 'the wider context, the deeper meanings of particular problems'."⁴⁴ The shifts in *Marxism Today* under Jacques indicated a turn in the magazine's project from being a theoretical journal to a magazine working to achieve a 'broad democratic alliance'.⁴⁵ The contributions in the magazine became increasingly concerned with internal politics, and the contributors became more politically diverse.⁴⁶ The size of the magazine increased, and so did its influence.⁴⁷ As mentioned, *Marxism Today*'s ties with the CPGB were looser when Thatcher stepped into office. At the same time, it was not as directly tied to the Labour movement, or the Labour Party itself, as magazines such as *Tribune* or *the New Statesman* were. Martin Jacques' *Marxism Today* was more of an independent voice. Nonetheless, it had a significant influence on the Labour Party and other leftist organisations at the time.

³⁶ Colm Murphy, "The forgotten rival of Marxism Today: the British Labour Party's New Socialist and the business of political culture in the late twentieth century". (Forthcoming in English Historical Review.)

³⁷ E.g. Sutcliffe-Braithwaite 2017; Shalbak 2018; Rustin & Gilbert 2020

³⁸ Harris, 2018

³⁹ Pimlott 2000: 29

⁴⁰ Pimlott 2000: 30

⁴¹ Harris, 2018

⁴² Pimlott 2006: 794

⁴³ Connor, 1986: 12

⁴⁴ Jacques 1978, as cited in Pimlott 2006: 792

⁴⁵ Pimlott 2006: 789

⁴⁶ Pimlott 2006: 791

⁴⁷ Pimlott 2006: 792

Thesis Question

This thesis systematically explores the nature and range of leftist opinion in *Marxism Today* to establish why historians have singled it out as an object of study. The scope of the thesis is limited to the years 1979-1983, which is a crucial period for the Labour Party and the left. Politics became more polarised, both between left and right but also on the left. The emergence of a new era of British politics frames this study. It enables an investigation of the similarities and differences and areas of agreement and disagreement on the left concerning the Labour Party's general election defeat in 1979, the politics of Thatcherism, and thoughts about Labour and the left's future. When assessing the content of the publications in *Marxism Today*, two questions are central:

- 1. How unified were the contributors on the major challenges facing the British Left in this period?
- 2. What do these contributions reveal about the politics of the Labour Party and the Thatcher governments?

Historiography

Marxism Today and Leftist Publishing

At the beginning of the 1900s, the Communist Party of Great Britain had a majority of working-class members and a lack of intellectuals.⁴⁸ This caused them to lack an active literary intellectual core. In the 1930s, this took a turn with a left-wing literary movement, and the communists were central.⁴⁹ *The Left Review*, set up by the International Union of Revolutionary Writers, became one of the outlets for far-left opinions in Britain at the time.⁵⁰ It was short-lived but still a part of "the development in England of a literature of the struggle for socialism."⁵¹ The paper was a part of the intellectual process in Britain to recruit working-class writers, which affected the history of leftist intellectual writings for years to come.⁵²

Marxism Today was first issued in 1954 in the wake of this intellectual spark on the far-left in Britain. It became an outlet for the thoughts of CPGB members⁵³ and other far-left members. The magazine "offered a fundamental revision of the standard left-wing project."⁵⁴ Despite the varied contributions, some have argued that it is given too much importance in historical writing about the British Left. As Colm Murphy mentions, the 'Eurocommunist' wing of the Communist Party of Great Britain (CPGB) sustained the magazine.⁵⁵ It is rare to find academic writings concerning leftist publishings during the Thatcher years that do not mention Marxism Today. It is given much weight, although magazines like the New Statesman, Tribune, Spare Rib, and the Labour Party's New Socialist were also active in these years.

There was a wide array of magazines in which those on the left could publish. An example is *The Morning Star*. The paper is attached to the Communist Party, but as Robert

⁴⁸ Hilliard 2006: 40

⁴⁹ Hilliard 2006: 41

⁵⁰ Hilliard 2006: 41

⁵¹ Hilliard 2006: 43

⁵² Hilliard 2006: 64

⁵³ Smith & Worley 2014: 180

⁵⁴ Davis & McWilliam 2017: 3

⁵⁵ Colm Murphy, "The forgotten rival of Marxism Today: the British Labour Party's New Socialist and the business of political culture in the late twentieth century". (Forthcoming in English Historical Review.)

Griffiths states: "we're a paper for working people across the board, whatever work they do."⁵⁶ This is similar to what *Marxism Today* aimed for during Jacques' editorship. Despite the significance of *The Morning Star* and publications such as *The New Statesman*, *Marxism Today* remains one of the most heavily relied on leftist publications when discussing the opinions of the left in Britain in the years when Thatcher was prime minister.

Hobsbawm and Hall's Interlocked Relationship with Marxism Today

The historian Eric Hobsbawm and the cultural theorist Stuart Hall made some of the most memorable contributions to Marxism Today. 57 The British journalist John Harris claims that the pair defines the intellectual core of Marxism Today and that they provoked the same controversy.⁵⁸ They have been dominantly referred to when looking at the leftist opinion presented in the magazine and are seen as representative of the opinions shared in it. Professor Herbert Pimlott analyses the journalism style in Marxism Today. When discussing contributions to the magazine, he writes that Hall and Hobsbawm respectively "conveyed" and "used" imagery and metaphors, while others "attempted" to do the same. 59 Although Pimlott did not necessarily intend to minimise the contributions of the other authors, his descriptions tell a tale seen in other historical accounts of *Marxism Today*. Historians have repeatedly interacted with Hall and Hobsbawm when exploring the magazine or when stating the views of the left in the Thatcher era. Other contributors are mentioned in the stories of this period but often in passing, and their opinions come across as less significant. Hall and Hobsbawm's scholarly attention can be reasoned through their authorship of the two iconic essays, "The Great Moving Right Show" and "The Forward March of Labour Halted", respectively.60

A Period of Thatcher policies: Thatcherism

This thesis is concerned with an array of responses to 'Thatcherism' in *Marxism Today*, which is why it is essential to understand what it was and what the Thatcher governments stood for. Scholars agree that *Thatcherism* cannot be defined as one thing.⁶¹ Andrew Gamble attempts to give focus to the fact that terming the politics of the Conservatives 1970s after a political figure is to direct attention away from its content.⁶² At the least, Thatcherism is a gathering of ideas or a political attitude. American academic Shirley Robin Letwin supports the latter view in her book *The Anatomy of Thatcherism*. She understands Thatcherism as a collection of responses to the conjunctural, as "a coherent set of responses as to things as they are, or were seen to be, in Britain at the end of the twentieth century."⁶³ Robert Saunders backs this view as he writes about it as a 'negative body of ideas'.⁶⁴

Some widely recognised ideas attached to Thatcherism, such as 'the conception of individualism', were not necessarily uttered explicitly but rather implicitly through various actions and statements. This seems to be the essence of Thatcherism in Letwin's understanding. Thatcherism has to be understood as reactions to what could, according to

⁵⁶ Griffiths as cited in Platt 2015

⁵⁷ Pimlott 2006: 800

⁵⁸ Harris, 2018

⁵⁹ Pimlott 2006: 800

⁶⁰ For examples, see: Cooke & Rutherford 2011; Worth 2014; Shock 2020; Ciáurriz 2020;

Diamond 2021

⁶¹ Gamble 1988: 21; Letwin 1992: 17

⁶² Gamble 1988: 21-22

⁶³ Letwin 1992: 30

⁶⁴ Saunders 2012: 40

the Conservatives, hinder 'vigorous virtues'.⁶⁵ Margaret Thatcher wanted to abandon the post-war consensus, and her politics were expressions of precisely this.⁶⁶ Thatcher despised the term 'ideology', which adds to the understanding of the politics associated with her as a collection of ideas and reactions, and *not* an ideology.⁶⁷ Some realities disclose much about Thatcher's policies. Thane writes, "Poverty and income and wealth inequality increased dramatically during her period as premier [...] She believed inequality was the natural and desirable state of society."⁶⁸ Thatcher also worked to remove trade unions from the political scene, which she largely achieved by the end of her premiership.⁶⁹

From 1979 to 1983, the Thatcher government laid the groundwork for its future policies. The Thatcherites started signalling what they were going to do.⁷⁰ However, the party was not in full agreement about the government's future direction until the reshuffle of 1981.⁷¹ Gamble writes the following about the period, "The Thatcher Government seemed to be the latest in a long line of governments that had suffered irreversible damage due to bad judgement and ill-fortune. It appeared that the Thatcher experiment would be short-lived."⁷² At this moment, Margaret Thatcher and her government were at their weakest, and they had not yet been able to introduce all of the reforms that they would be famous for in the 1980s. *Marxism Today* played a significant role in analysing and defining Thatcherism as a 'coherent hegemonic project'.⁷³ Stuart Hall's interpretation is the most influential.⁷⁴ Trying to understand Thatcherism was a key discussion point in *Marxism Today* in this period.

Method, Sources, and Chapter Structure

This thesis is a historical case study where the primary sources are at the very heart of the research. Exploring the opinions in *Marxism Today* is possible by establishing the *range* of opinions in it. This creates a basis for analysis. The next step is to look at how the secondary sources about this period present the magazine's views. By going about it in this way, it will become possible to answer if historical accounts accurately recount the contributions to the magazine in this period.

The relevant contributions to the magazine fall into three main categories based on which debate they contributed to the 1979 General Election, Thatcher's first term, or the future of leftist politics. The opinions have been categorised to enable an investigation of the variation within these categories. This systematic review can contribute to a better understanding of *Marxism Today* as a source of information but also an object of criticism.

Method

Reconstructing 'political culture' dominates the field of modern British history and has done so for the past three decades.⁷⁵ Murphy writes that "A common feature of this research

⁶⁵ Letwin 1992: 32; 34

⁶⁶ Gamble 1988: 208-209

⁶⁷ Saunders 2012: 28

⁶⁸ Thane 2018: 346

⁶⁹ Green 2006: 126

⁷⁰ Gamble 1988: 99

⁷¹ Gamble 1988: 110

⁷² Gamble 1988: 110

⁷³ Gamble 1988: 23

⁷⁴ Gamble 1988: 175

⁷⁵ Colm Murphy, "The forgotten rival of Marxism Today: the British Labour Party's New Socialist and the business of political culture in the late twentieth century". (Forthcoming in English Historical Review.)

agenda has been extensive use of print media: manifestos, reprinted speeches, pamphlets, posters, newspapers, journals, and books."⁷⁶ In 'new political history', historians tend to focus on reconstructing the broader cultural context.⁷⁷ This change represents a linguistic change, focusing on the individual experience, the ideological competition itself, and the process of ideological competition in the public sphere.⁷⁸ The latter is especially central for the work with political debates in print media. Therefore, looking at magazines as a part of historical research has gained additional ground.

Similarly, in the history of ideas, the primary method is studies of text.⁷⁹ Historians have become increasingly concerned with the author's intention, as Skinner writes: "to know what a writer *meant* by a particular work is to know what his primary *intentions* were in writing it."⁸⁰ Issues of contextualisation are raised, as substantial knowledge is necessary to contextualise correctly, but it is challenging even then. However, as Southgate points out while being aware of our inability to attain the context 'correctly', historians can ask what the author wanted to convey.⁸¹

With the new political history, the 'linguistic turn' is embraced, and historians have started re-investigating the history of the Labour Party. Real Lawrence Black writes, "The 'new political history' alerts historians to the manifold relations between politics and the people. If parties are more than reflectors of social change, voters are more than passive receptors of ideas." This justifies looking at the range of opinions in *Marxism Today* to say something new about Labour and the left. Despite the contributors not always being attached to a party, their opinions reflect the present's ideas. No magazine writes with one voice; through assessing various opinions from politicians, activists, and intellectuals, it is possible to say something about the ideas of this period. Colin Hay highlights four core themes of the 'new political history of British politics'⁸⁴:

- 1. The relationship between structure and agency, context and conduct
- 2. The relationship between the discursive and the material, between the ideas held about the world itself
- 3. The relative significance of political, economic and cultural factors
- 4. The relative significance of domestic, international and transnational factors The second point is particularly central to this study, as the research conducted can assist in answering questions concerning "the relationship between political discourse and the environment in which it is formulated and, arguably, on whose development it impacts."⁸⁵ This systematic research will assist in understanding the magazine as a mouthpiece on the left and how elements of the left understood the Labour Party and the challenges it faced.

Self-set Limitations

The selected time span in the research has been singled out due to its significance for the Labour Party and the left. In 1979-83, Labour politics were highly charged and contentious. Callaghan and other centrists had to fight the far-left within the party. The differences

⁷⁶ Colm Murphy, "The forgotten rival of Marxism Today: the British Labour Party's New Socialist and the business of political culture in the late twentieth century". (Forthcoming in English Historical Review.)

⁷⁷ Lawrence 2010: 219

⁷⁸ Vieira 2011: 374

⁷⁹ Southgate 2010: 274

⁸⁰ Skinner 1988 as cited in Southgate 2010: 275

⁸¹ Southgate 2010: 276

⁸² Black 2003: 23

⁸³ Black 2003: 24

⁸⁴ Hay 2003: 182

⁸⁵ Hay 2003: 191

within the Labour Party were dividing and caused great debate. The far-left gained influence in the party in this period. Simultaneously, they discussed their views and Thatcher's policies in *Marxism Today*. The Thatcher government was at its weakest, and it had not yet implemented all of the policies that it is now most famous for, such as the full privatisation agenda. This was when the British Left could attack and regain political territory. 1983 was arguably crucial as a possible turning point, but Thatcher got to continue to destroy things for the left. The second win cemented the Thatcher government's dominance in this period, which is why Labour's course towards 1983 is significant.

A study of this period assists in seeing the initial responses of the left to the election loss in 1979 and Thatcherite policies before the left was 'fully defeated'. This can contribute to an understanding of the ideas on the left in this period, even if they were not embraced before or after 1983. It can assist in developing a better understanding of why historians have singled *Marxism Today* as an object of study.

Sources

The primary sources used in this thesis originate from *Marxism Today*, which can be accessed through Amiel Melburn Archive, an open online database for socialist and radical writings. The database is nearly complete, but some articles are missing. This could be a source of misinterpretation, but as most of the content is there, this should not be an issue. Thomas Smits has raised concern about 'unequal access' to digital archives, but this is not an issue with the Amiel Melburn Archive as it is open for everyone.⁸⁶

Holly L. Crossen-White has researched the use of digital archives in historical research. Although she is mainly concerned with personal information in such archives, she makes some general points too. The ease of access and rapidity causes the researcher to distance themself from the material and not give it as much attention as physical archives.⁸⁷ Therefore, the researcher must be aware of the occurring distance and remember the 'duty of care'.⁸⁸

Roughly fifty contributions, from the period leading up to the General Election of 1979 and during the first Thatcher government, have been considered. About forty of them are used actively in this research. When reading and researching the material, handling the articles with care has ensured no misinterpretation or neglect. The contributions during Thatcher's first period in office have not been considered exclusively. Knowledge of how the left perceived the upcoming defeat would be lost by not addressing specific contributions before the 1979 General Election and some of the first contributions to the debate on what the left needs to do to rebuild. Notably, some contributions were put aside due to their lack of relevance to the analysis.

Chapter Structure

To answer the thesis question, it is central to structure the thesis in a way that explores as much range as possible within the magazine. After looking through the contributions to *Marxism Today* in 1979-83, it became evident that it is possible to get a good sense of the range by looking at reactions to the 1979 General Election, Thatcher's first term, and thoughts on the future of leftist politics. At the end of each chapter, there is an encapsulation of what the findings presented in the chapter tell us about the range of opinions.

⁸⁶ Smits 2014: 140-41

⁸⁷ Crossen-White 2015: 114

⁸⁸ Crossen-White 2015: 115

The loss in the 1979 General Election was significant as it represented the decline in leftist support. This caused the Labour Party and others on the left to ask questions about why the left was in decline. In *Marxism Today*, Eric Hobsbawm initiated a debate about precisely this. It was one of the big questions at the time. The chapter concerning the 1979 General Election includes the following subcategories based on the contributors' views as to what has caused the decline: both external and internal factors precipitating the left's decline, the Conservative Party's influence, historical explanations, and ideological issues concerning the left.

After 1979, Britain saw a Labour Party in opposition that had to react and adjust to the politics of the new government. The contributions in *Marxism Today* were a part of this. It is possible to map attitudes by looking at how different contributors reacted to the new government. Although the response to Thatcher is negative overall, some nuances are found in their perception of the ongoing events and what they found to be suitable responses. The chapter concerning the reactions to Thatcher policies from 1979 to 1983 has subsections primarily based on public expenditure, workers and trade unions, the nature of Thatcherism and its foreign policies, and what responses to Thatcherism the contributors wanted from the movement.

The third main chapter takes on the discussions about what the left and the Labour Party should or should not do to regain support and possibly win the upcoming election in 1983. This was a significantly precarious period for the Labour Party and the British Left. They had now witnessed the contours of what Thatcherism is and what Margaret Thatcher intended to do. Another election loss could be devastating. There were various takes on what kind of action was needed. The subsections in this chapter are based on the various ideas presented by the contributors: potential alliances, offensive strategy, self-examination and internal change, and, more broadly, building a new focus for the left.

The 1979 General Election

"The period 1979 to 1983 was one of the most stormy and eventful in the Labour Party's history," Eric Shaw writes.89 It started with the 'Winter of Discontent' leading to Labour's election loss in 1979. The failure of the left in the General Election became evident even before it was held. In 1978, the left had to acknowledge that the ascending of Labour had started to stagnate. The decline of leftist support provoked the existing tensions between Labour Left and Labour Right, leading to 'a veritable civil war' over organisational, ideological and policy matters. 90 Diamond calls this a structural crisis; the party had "little effective capacity for sustained intellectual rejuvenation"; 91 they did not have the structures needed to initiate constructive reflection. Steve Ludlam's collection of historians' explanations points to issues of pluralism and a lack of socialism in the Labour Party.92 Therefore, the period marked by the 'Winter of Discontent' and the 1979 General Election exposed internal divisions.93 These divisions were evident to the voting masses because, as Tony Benn said, "The greatest problem we face is not that our policies are unpopular. The problem is that many people don't believe what we say and don't know whether we would do it if we were elected."94 Similarly, the press turned against the Labour Party; the papers were hostile to the party's leftward shift and its internal conflicts. 95 The Labour Left and other leftist actors looked to Marxism Today and other periodicals for ideological and strategic discussions to resolve their issues. Academics such as Hall and Hobsbawm triggered debates about ideology and Labour's failures. 96 The responses combined with freestanding articles reveal a complex picture of leftist thought at a time when the Labour Party shifted leftwards. These debates were significant as they had a great influence on one of the largest parties in Britain.⁹⁷

The External Factors Precipitating the Left's Decline

In examining what had caused the decline of the left, three of the most renowned contributors to the magazine *Marxism Today*, namely Hobsbawm, Gamble, and Hall, took on the external issues they believed had caused this shift. Their writings point to factors that Labour could not prevent. However, Hobsbawm and Gamble clarify that the external factors combined do not satisfactorily explain the stagnation. Several leftist writers were concerned with external issues causing the decline, which is interesting as the left in these years is not known for debates about others' roles in their decline but rather their own. The historical understanding of the period seems to differ from reality.

Hobsbawm contributed to the September 1978 publication of *Marxism Today*, about eight months before the General Election, with the article "The Forward March of Labour Halted?". This publication sparked debate in the magazine. ⁹⁸ In his article, Hobsbawm addresses the development of British capitalism and how it caused Labour to lose support

⁸⁹ Shaw 1994: 1

⁹⁰ Shaw 1994: 1

⁹¹ Diamond 2021: 31

⁹² Ludlam 2003

⁹³ Martin 2009: 51

⁹⁴ Tony Benn in the Guardian, 5 September 1981 as cited in Shaw 1994: 24

⁹⁵ Thomas 2005: 87

⁹⁶ Davis & McWilliam 2017: 3

⁹⁷ Davis & McWilliam 2017: 5

 $^{^{98}}$ Hobsbawm 1978; Jacques & Mulhern 1981: The contributions were published as a book in 1981 with the same title as Hobsbawm's essay.

among the traditional manual working class⁹⁹; "Solidaristic class struggle ignored, or refused to recognise, the new identities."¹⁰⁰ The workers were less solidaristic and more focused on individualistic issues; their political identities transformed. In addition, Hobsbawm addresses changes in the social structure over the past century concerning women workers, immigration, and the working class. He argues that the new and changed composition of the latter contributed to the current crisis of the left.¹⁰¹

Like Hobsbawm, Gamble is reluctant to ascribe only one external factor as the reason for the halt. Gamble expresses his views in "The Decline of the Conservative Party" where he argues that the Conservatives are declining from a historical perspective. 102 Gamble argues that the reason for Thatcher's success in the General Election has its roots in the attack on "the institutions, policies, organisation, and values of social democracy" for the past fifteen years. 103 The post-war consensus is under attack, a condition under which the Conservatives thrive. He further emphasises that Thatcher has used liberalism and the social market to solve 'the crisis'. 104 Gamble claims that it is not these social and economic changes in the society that causes the shift to the right; it is how Thatcher and the Conservatives are using them in their favour.

Both Gamble and Hobsbawm are unwilling to blame the external changes in society entirely, yet both point to some changes that they believe have contributed to Labour's 'halting'. Stuart Hall's famous article "The Great Moving Right Show" was published in the January edition during the election year. In this article, Hall is concerned with the increasing support to the right and explains an "interlocked relationship of the Right to the fortunes and faith of democracy."¹⁰⁵ The emergence of the right, more specifically the radical side of it, is connected to the situation of the left. Seemingly, Hall believes that the decline of Labour was inevitable or, perhaps more correctly, that the success of the Conservative Party was inevitable. Hall makes other arguments that point toward other factors which the left can do little about, such as the actions of the Conservatives. Although Hall does not explicitly state that he is blaming external factors, his explanation of the decline is centred around issues that have little to do with the internal issues on the left.

The Internal Factors Precipitating the Left's Decline

In addition to the external factors, there were some internal issues within the British Left that several politicians, activists and academics saw as possible explanations for the decline. These issues were raised in *Marxism Today* in the years following the 1979 General Election. The fragmentation of the Labour Party is taken on in historical accounts about this period in British Politics or the Labour Party and the assessments of the decline by Andrew Gamble and Sue Slipman. Most of the contributors agree that something is missing on the left at that time. However, there were opposing voices in these debates. The discussions in *Marxism Today* on the internal factors which may have cost the Labour Party both an election and general support in Britain were dynamic and not entirely in coherence with significant writings about the period for the left.

⁹⁹ Hobsbawm 1978: 282

¹⁰⁰ Diamond 2021: 77

¹⁰¹ Hobsbawm 1978: 285

¹⁰² Gamble 1979

¹⁰³ Gamble 1979: 9

¹⁰⁴ Gamble 1979: 9

¹⁰⁵ Hall 1979: 20

¹⁰⁶ E.g. BBC 1995; Aikman 2021

Communist and trade unionist Kevin Halpin heavily critiques several trends within his party, which he believes contributed immensely to the election result. 107 It is noteworthy that Halpin does not think one should be too concerned with what the movement should have done, as that is not coherent with Marxist ideology. Nonetheless, he mentions several things that could be improved within the labour movement to make advances. Central to his critique is the lack of solidarity within the trade unions and the inability to "initiate united action". 108 Halpin's solution to the issues is to "inject Marxist theory"; in other words, he suggests that the issue at hand is the lack of Marxist theory in the labour movement. 109 Halpin sees Marxist theory as a tool to explain the state machine and make advancements against capitalism. 110

Two months after this publication, Digby Jacks contributed to the debate. Jacks is a communist and trade unionist, akin to Halpin. The claims made in his article are far from the assertions of Halpin. He takes on positive aspects within the movement. This includes how the working population is at its most organised ever, and its potential is more significant than before. Others, such as Hobsbawm and Halpin, believe that there is greater sectionalism within the movement now than before and that this is weakening it. 111 Digby Jacks argues against this, pointing out that this is not a recent trend. 112 He also asks that Hobsbawm's implication 'that students, women, cultural minorities assume a greater importance' should be rejected. 113 This further emphasises his belief that the organised working class is already a functional support to the labour movement. This contrasts with Diamond's assessment that the crisis was primarily structural. Jacks' argument opposes that the issues are new and not based on the construction and composition of the left and the Labour Party. This disagreement between Jacks and the other contributors and historical accounts about the period reflect disunion on the left.

Jacks was one of the few defending the current status of the left. Another example of those who followed Halpin in raising issues concerning the status quo of the left is the radical social economist Pat Devine. He saw recruiting, or the lack of it, as a major issue. He took up this problem in the January edition of Marxism Today in 1980. Devine raises the issue of the lack of recruitment from other social strata when the manual working class is not as established as a leftward group anymore. 114 This contrasts with Jacks' thought that the working class was, at that moment, not enough support for the movement. Devine calls for a rethinking of which social strata, including the manual working class, should find their place within the labour movement.

Gamble indicated in November 1979 that external factors such as social and economic changes had a considerable impact on the election result. However, in 1980, he argued that "the resolve of the Thatcher government is much more solid [than Heath's] because clear alternatives are so much less evident."115 The socialist academic Sue Slipman joins Gamble in his argument. She looks back at the failure of the left's former

¹⁰⁷ Halpin 1979: 63

¹⁰⁸ Halpin 1979: 63 ¹⁰⁹ Halpin 1979: 64

¹¹⁰ Halpin 1979: 64

¹¹¹ Hobsbawm 1978: 283; Halpin 1979: 63

¹¹² Jacks 1979: 124

¹¹³ Jacks 1979: 125

¹¹⁴ Devine 1980: 15

¹¹⁵ Gamble 1980: 15

strategy, which was "to 'smash the social contract'¹¹⁶ for an 'alternative economic strategy'¹¹⁷."¹¹⁸ This plan could make it possible for the left to create a connection between its politics and the immediate struggles in Britain. She concludes that Labour was successful in the first but that Labour is and was unable to provide a legitimate alternative. Building an alternative became a central point in discussing the future of the left in *Marxism Today*. However, Thatcher was left unchallenged at this time as the opposition consisted of a fragmented Labour Party.

The Conservative Party's Narrative: Commonsense & Crisis

According to Hall and Innes, the result of the 1979 General Election can not solely be put on Labour. The Conservative's actions, promises, and ideology also played a part, as it has won them the election. Stuart Hall, in particular, looks at some aspects of their 'campaigning' and how that has led to the catastrophic loss for the left. This outward look is not necessarily associated with the processes on the left in this period, which makes these contributions a gateway to revealing something about the perceived relationship between the left and the Conservatives at this time. Contributions in *Marxism Today* included Thatcher and her party's actions as part of the reason for the left's decline. Rhetoric and narrative were central in the writings ascribing the Conservative Party as responsible for the decline.

Stuart Hall wrote in February 1980 a contribution to *Marxism Today* named "Thatcherism - a new stage?", an article which takes on how the Conservatives are working to establish "a new form of 'commonsense'."¹¹⁹ They are conveying populistic rhetoric by presenting the idea that they are working *with* the people *against* 'the state'. Hall was concerned with Thatcher's populism prior to the election. In January 1979, he wrote about the 'Tory discourse' and how they put 'people' against 'class' and 'union'. While conducting this discourse, they also popularised the ideas of "folk-devil" and welfare 'scavenger'. This rhetoric would benefit the Conservatives and harm the labour movement because Thatcherism opposed the folk-devil, meaning those exploiting the systems by claiming social benefits and services.

According to Hall, the Conservatives did not only construct divisions between the people and the unions and those in need of welfare services, but they also constructed a crisis. He writes about how Thatcherism lowers people's expectations and prepares them for worse times, then states how it will lead them to better times. ¹²¹ Hall sees this as a part of why Thatcher is winning support for ideas like cuts in welfare and other individualistic policies. Further, if people believe her narrative, she gets a "long leash". ¹²² Her policies do not need to be effective, and people will not hold her accountable for

¹¹⁶ The Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica, 2021, about the 'Social Contract': "By comparing the advantages of organized government with the disadvantages of the state of nature, they showed why and under what conditions government is useful and ought therefore to be accepted by all reasonable people as a voluntary obligation. These conclusions were then reduced to the form of a social contract, from which it was supposed that all the essential rights and duties of citizens could be logically deduced."

¹¹⁷ Diamond 2021: 89-90: An Alternative Economic Strategy (AES) had already been proposed in 1973, but it did not pay any attention to "establishing workers' democracy, increasing participation in the governance of the economy". It did not respond to all those issues which it needed to.

¹¹⁸ Slipman 1980: 27

¹¹⁹ Hall 1980: 26

¹²⁰ Hall 1979: 17

¹²¹ Hall 1980: 27

¹²² Hall 1980: 27

mistakes for a long time. Communist and shop steward Bill Innes agrees that a crisis has been constructed. He sees it in the "lads and lasses on the shop floor."¹²³ They do not experience the crisis as one of capitalism. Therefore, they search for answers within capitalism. This caused workers to vote for the Conservative Party. Other explanations for this shift of trust are based on the failures of the two previous Labour governments.

Historical Explanations of the Decline: Wilson and Callaghan

In assessing the reasons for the decline of the Labour Party, one instinctive approach is to look at historical explanations of the decline. Several people affiliated with the labour movement recognised that problems within the movement needed sorting to hinder the decline. However, some argued that the irreversible past had contributed to the decline. Multiple contributors in *Marxism Today* blamed Wilson and Callaghan's governments for ruining the Labour Party's and the left's reputation. This approach to the decline of the left is central in more recent explanations, which is significant as the importance of this point does not appear to have diminished in retellings of the past. 125

Hobsbawm is one of those who argued that previous governments are to be held accountable for the decline. In the article "The Forward March of Labour Halted?", he argues that external factors, such as the development of capitalism and social structure, contributed to the decline and the failures of the Wilson governments. This had changed the composition of the working class, the Labour Party's target group. He writes:

If we are to explain the stagnation or crisis, we have to look at the Labour Party and the labour movement itself. The workers, and growing strata outside the manual workers, were looking to it for a lead and a policy. They didn't get it. They got the Wilson years. 126

The same thoughts can be found in Pat Devine's "The Labour Party - why the decline?" which is concerned with several periods in the 20th Century and the Labour Party's role in each of them. When describing 'The Mid-1960s to 1979', he reminds the readers that the crisis of British capitalism¹²⁷ caused the first Wilson government to adopt policies that were not coherent with the ideology of Labour as they challenged, for example, trade unions. This is why it is argued that the policies of this government, as well as the following Labour governments, caused the halt.

Callaghan's time as prime minister is brought up as an issue in *Marxism Today*. Convenor Jack Adams believes that Callaghan has contributed negatively to the reputation of socialism. He did not implement socialist beliefs properly. The voting masses' latest experience with the Labour Party and their ideology was through him and his shortcomings in government. Consequently, people started to accept Thatcherism. ¹²⁹ Alan Wilker also blames Callaghan's government for the hostility in the working class towards public and social expenditure, as it "adopted both a public burden model of welfare resulting in cuts in vital social services and allowed the tax threshold to fall." ¹³⁰ There is some consensus that the most recent Labour governments have broken with the expectations of the

¹²³ Ciccone 1980: 17

¹²⁴ Ciccone 1980: 18

¹²⁵ E.g. Pimlott 1992; Shepherd 2013; Diamond 2021,

¹²⁶ Hobsbawm 1978: 285-6

¹²⁷ Devine 1980 (p. 14) explains this as the acute need to regenerate the economy, as it was evidently flawed; other countries managed to recover from WW2 but not Britain.

¹²⁸ Devine 1980: 14 ¹²⁹ Ciccone 1980: 20

¹³⁰ Wilker 1982: 29

working class and therefore created a bad reputation for themselves and what is associated with socialism.

The Effects of the Ideological Issues Concerning the Left

Major ideological issues affected the left in the years leading up to and following the decline in leftist support. It is difficult to distinguish if the ideological shift resulted from other factors or if it was happening simultaneously. Nonetheless, these issues caused debate in *Marxism Today*. The experience with the previous Labour governments was not particularly favourable for large parts of the population, which affected how the Labour Party, the left, and the ideology of socialism were perceived. In *Marxism Today*, several contributed to assessing what this ideological shift meant for the left. However, the contributions looked at the ideological shift at several levels, which caused the comments to be varied.

Labour Party advisor Corrigan believes that the increasing hostility against the welfare state, nationalism, and the trade union movement caused a boost in support for the Conservative Party. ¹³¹ The enmity provided fertile ground for Thatcherism as it appeals to individualism, challenging the collective institutions. ¹³² Devine writes that while "the Labour Party was moving to the left, the spectrum of opinion among the population as a whole was moving to the right." ¹³³ He understands this ideological shift in the population as a desire for individualism, possibly reacting to the post-war consensus and previous Labour policies. ¹³⁴ Both sides of the political spectrum shared this desire for autonomy. ¹³⁵

Both of these interpretations of the ideological situation in the UK pose a complicated issue for Labour, as a shift towards this type of ideology would break with the principles of the party. Other contributors in *Marxism Today* acknowledge this trend of individualism.¹³⁶ In "Welfare State: the Second Front opens" by Phil Lee, it becomes clear that there was a considerable resentment toward social security benefits in the UK population prior to the 1979 General Election; "six out of ten people believed that social security benefits were too generous and too easy to get."¹³⁷

The contributors in *Marxism Today* were not only concerned with the ideological shift in the population as a whole but also the shift in its traditional body of support, the manual working population. Slipman argues that the lack of examination of what the voters want has caused the left to lose support. In the discussion "Where are we now?", member of the Communist Party Executive Committee Bill Innes admits that he sees a crisis mentality in his workers due to Thatcher's rhetoric. Another committee member, Jacky Atkin, had seen it in a colleague, and Jack Adams saw it in the people. In the crisis was seen as something that could only be solved by Thatcher and the Conservatives. The people had lost faith in the Labour Party.

The communist historian Royden Harrison believed that there was an ideological issue within the movement; "Marxism has become an Ideology in the strict Marxist sense of the term." He further explains this by stating that Marxism has become "the

¹³¹ Corrigan 1979: 17

¹³² Corrigan 1979: 17

¹³³ Devine 1980: 16

¹³⁴ Devine 1980: 16

¹³⁵ Robinson et al. 2017: 282

¹³⁶ E.g. Corrigan 1979: 17; Slipman 1980: 27; Bloomfield 1980: 10

¹³⁷ Lee 1983: 23

¹³⁸ Slipman 1980: 28

¹³⁹ Ciccone 1980: 17

¹⁴⁰ Harrison 1979: 190

necessarily false consciousness of the Industrial Revolution of the C20th."¹⁴¹ Marxism needs to be rethought as technology and imperialism have changed. A possible interpretation of Harrison's opinions is that a rethinking could assist the left in navigating in terms of the new features of Britain as the post-war consensus is being abandoned. Harrison's and others' contributions in *Marxism Today* identified various possible reasons for and explanations of the general decline of the left in Britain and the devastating loss in the 1979 General Elections; they were part of a vital discussion.

Marxism Today's Views on The 1979 General Election

The decline of leftist support in Britain manifested in Labour's defeat in 1979. The sense of a crisis sparked intellectual conversations in *Marxism Today*. 'Why is the left in decline?' was one of the key questions. This question brought several contributors of different sorts to assist in answering, such as historians, activists, communists, socialists, and academics. Two of the most renowned academics who contributed were Hall and Hobsbawm, and they stood for two of the most influential pieces at that time, "The Great Moving Right Show" and "The Forward March of Labour Halted". As seen through systematically looking at other contributions, these two essays initiated debates and influenced the views in the magazine. Seemingly, some focus on the pair in historical accounts about these discussions is well-reasoned. However, it is central to note that neither Hall nor Hobsbawm was visible in all parts of the discussion about what had caused the decline.

The British Left had to investigate several possible factors to the defeat in the General Election in 1979. Hall and Hobsbawm focused primarily on the external factors that could have affected the result and the general decline of the Labour Party. In these discussions, the other contributors joined them in their arguments. Gamble agrees with the pair on the external. However, he was more explicit about the structures. Inness backs Hall in his argument about the Conservative Party, and Hobsbawm finds ample support in Devine, Adams and Wilker when pointing back to the failures of Wilson and Callaghan.

The discussions about the possible internal issues that contributed to the defeat are dynamic and varied. Hobsbawm, Halpin and Devine are challenged by Digby Jacks on the topic of social strata and what groups the left should aim to appeal to. In addition to this, Gamble and Slipman added a point about how the strategy should be challenged and revised as it was not functional. This is central in the following discussions in the period, as restructuring is a central topic in the discussions about the future of the left. In several historical accounts about the period, the fragmentation of the Labour Party is prominent. The fragmentation led to the debates about the social strata of the voters, which had to be rethought. Also, the future direction of the party needed establishing.

Hall and Hobsbawm were not visible in the debates about ideological issues causing the decline. There were, however, several contributions from others about this topic. Corrigan and Lee were concerned with the increasing hostility against welfare; Devine with individuals; Slipman saw a lack of examination of what the voters wanted; Innes, Atkin, and Adams saw that there was a sense of crisis that the left needed to respond to; Harrison wanted change in the role ideology had in the Communist Party. There were various contributions and much to be said about the topic. At this time, Thatcher was at her weakest, and therefore, this was the time to respond. Notably, the left could not respond rapidly enough because the debate was too complex. Moreover, the left needed to quickly

¹⁴¹ Harrison 1979: 190

¹⁴² E.g. Layborn 2002

¹⁴³ Gamble 1988: 110

identify what aspects of the policies of Thatcherism would harm the movement and then put an end to it. This is further explored in the second chapter, 'Thatcher's first term, 1979-1983'.

As the left turned to magazines such as *Marxism Today* and other intellectual papers to undergo an intellectual process, they revealed at the same time that much was to be said about the road that had led them to a disastrous election loss. Historical accounts about this process for the Labour Party and the left, such as Diamond and Ludlam, point toward internal issues. However, when reading a more comprehensive range of contributions in the magazine, it becomes evident that many also recognised the impact of external issues such as the successful rhetoric of the Conservative Party. The voices in *Marxism Today*, with exceptions, were generally united on significant issues such as the structural changes and the failures of previous governments. However, the responses to the issues facing the left did not come quickly enough. Thatcher was given the opportunity to implement politics that could harm the Labour Party, the left, and several of those institutions associated with it.

Thatcher's First Term, 1979-1983

More determinedly than any previous Conservative premier, she aimed to dismantle the welfare state and collective social responsibility, minimizing state direction of the economy, maximizing private enterprise in all fields, 'rolling back' advances in state action since 1945, in practice by utilizing and often strengthening central state mechanisms.

-Pat Thane, A History of Britain, 1900 to the Present (2018)

Having lost the 1979 General Election, Labour was in opposition. Margaret Thatcher's new policies pointed out a new direction for the UK, and the left had strong reactions to it. Thatcher was notably more cautious in her first term than later. 144 However, the rhetoric and politics of Thatcherism signalled an abandonment of the post-war consensus and a new route for Britain. The left needed to react to Thatcherism and continue the intellectual investigation of where the left was and what could be done. Thatcher's policies were designed to weaken the institutions and organisations associated with the Labour Party and the left. 145 Concerning the trade unions, Thatcher aimed to remove them from 'the realm of economic governance'. 146 Gamble assessed that "the universal welfare programmes, the extended public sectors and the institutions and policies of corporatist economic management that had grown up piecemeal over many decades became a major battleground."147 According to Robert Saunders, she "had evolved a critique of Labour as a menace to the very existence of a free society."148 However, some scholars here argued that the party was no longer able to think for itself. 149 Nevertheless, Marxism Today became a necessary outlet for the leftist writers who wanted to show that they could pose a real alternative. This was a crucial point in the intellectual process as new politics needed to be formed and signalled.

Public Expenditure: Fighting the Cuts

In her first period, Thatcher launched an attack on several aspects of public expenditure as a part of the monetary cure for inflation.¹⁵⁰ Thatcher had made it evident to the left that she would ensure that 'the welfare scavenger' would struggle.¹⁵¹ The contributors to *Marxism Today* debated what these policies meant and how the left could fight them. The policies of welfare cuts created a stir on the left. In the first 15 months of Thatcher's time in office, several contributions to *Marxism Today* were concerned with these cuts. One common denominator for the articles is that the left must cooperate in fighting these cuts.¹⁵² There is a call for an immediate response.

There are other agreements in addition to the consensus involving the need for action, such as the need to accept the poor state of the previous welfare services. Bower

¹⁴⁴ Gamble 1988: 99; Thane 2018: 349

¹⁴⁵ Saunders 2012: 40

¹⁴⁶ Green 2006: 117

¹⁴⁷ Gamble 1988: 49-50

¹⁴⁸ Saunders 2012: 36

¹⁴⁹ Diamond 2021: 31

¹⁵⁰ Gamble 1988: 101

¹⁵¹ Hall 1980: 27

¹⁵² Priscott 1980: 18; Bower & Sutton 1980: 29; Ashworth & Riley 1980: 28

and Sutton admit that defending the welfare state as it was would be 'fetishising'. ¹⁵³ Paul Corrigan accepts that people dislike the occasionally humiliating services provided and that the British Left cannot expect people to defend them. ¹⁵⁴ His main point is that the left must ensure that the welfare services are more democratic. According to Corrigan, the Communist Party should lead this process. He was a candidate for the Communist Party in 1979, so his suggestion is not surprising. Nonetheless, both articles state the need to examine what can be better and reinvented rather than just blindly defending the faulty existing system.

Another issue concerning the leftist writers in *Marxism Today* is the taxation policies of Thatcherism, a topic which the Labour Party and the Conservative Party have vastly different ideas about. However, this is not what is discussed in the magazine. The authors of the articles addressing taxation are mainly concerned with how these policies have not been implemented. Andrew Gamble assesses in two contributions to *Marxism Today* that the Conservatives have failed to take the measures needed to restore the economy simultaneously as they have failed to keep their election pledges. At the end of Thatcher's first period, the Labour Party politician Chris Pond deduced that "the promised tax cuts had yet to materialise" for the majority of the British population. However, Pond saw some dangers in the proposed politics as they would contribute to increasing inequalities, and therefore the left has to create a credible alternative for the upcoming election. However, Pond saw some dangers in the proposed politics as they would contribute to increasing inequalities, and therefore the left has to create a credible alternative for the upcoming election.

Not all of the responses to Thatcher's public expenditure were as specific as those above. Among those who looked at it more all-around, we can find the Labour politician John Harrison. The politician does not sugarcoat his assessment of the economic policies implemented by the Tory government for the past three years. He describes their actions as mindless destruction. Harrison's judgement over the first Thatcher years reveals a feeling of injustice. He finds the government vindictive towards the left and the consensus politics built by both parties in the postwar period.

Workers and Trade Unions: A Presentiment of Paralysis

The Conservative Party launched new policies related to the working population, primarily focusing on the trade unions and the pressing issue of unemployment. Naturally, the so-called 'attack' on trade unions hit the left hard. In *Marxism Today*, several contributors addressed these new policies, some focusing on what can or will happen and others calling for action to ensure that the possible catastrophic outcomes do not happen.

The discussion about the possible outcomes of the Conservative's policies concerning trade unions also addresses the already occurring issues caused by Thatcherism. John Harrison wrote in 1982 that the "trade union resistance has been muted, to put it mildly"¹⁵⁹, a concern previously raised by both Jack Adams and Christian Tyler. Respectively, they were concerned with the deliberate attacks on the trade unions and Tebbit's law. ¹⁶⁰ Adams raised his concern just a little over a year after the Conservative

¹⁵³ Bower & Sutton 1980: 28

¹⁵⁴ Corrigan 1979: 15

¹⁵⁵ Gamble 1980: 19; Gamble 1981: 6

¹⁵⁶ Pond 1983: 15

¹⁵⁷ Pond 1983: 17; 19

¹⁵⁸ Harrison 1982: 11

¹⁵⁹ Harrison 1982: 21

¹⁶⁰ Ciccone 1980: 21; Tyler 1982: 24. Tebbit's law is also known as Employment Act 1982. Ch. 46. (GBR). For further reading on Tebbit's Law: Charles Hanson (April 1982). Labour Law, Tebbit Style. Journal of Economic Affairs, 151-155.

government was elected. Tyler's response to Thatcher's trade union attacks came shortly after Tebbit's law was introduced. One example of the limitations the law would cause is how "Unions and workers would lose their immunity from civil court action if they blacked non-union work or refused to work alongside non-union labour."161 Harrison assesses that it would be a law that would be a further step in muting the resistance, a "political exorcism to rid the party of an incubus."162 Harrison is looking at the intricate issue that the current unemployment could win back lost ground for Labour, but at the same time, Tebbit's Bill will make it difficult to do so as the resistance would be muted. Harrison predicted discontent within the working class towards the government, but if Tebbit's Bill succeeded, "Thatcher [would] have achieved an important shift in the balance offerees on the industrial front."163 Other estimates of possible consequences included similar thoughts. Whereas Tyler saw the bill as a destruction of the trade union movement, Mick Costello believes that the primary mission of the law is to make the unions ineffective. 164 Two years prior to Tebbit's Law, Gordon McLennan assessed that the new government would "cripple the fighting capacity of the trade unions."165 For the left, this prediction seemed to come true.

Despite some viewing the unemployment issues as a possible way for Labour to regain support, it was not all positive as a part of the *possible* voting mass of the Labour Party were those affected by the current unemployment crisis. McLennan was concerned with the treatment of the (young) unemployed people; he observed that the government persuaded these workers to "work for less wages than they would normally work for." This was different from the ideals of the left and the postwar consensus.

Jean Gardiner, the Marxist feminist economist, argues that the rising unemployment issues since 1979 put women in a difficult situation. Traditionally, women are used as 'a flexible reserve army of labour'. Since women move in and out of the workforce and often work part-time, they do not achieve the same "minimum legal rights of full-time workers and have lower levels of unionisation." Further, Gardiner explains how she finds that the Thatcher philosophy attacks women and that the government is probably not aware of its policies' effect on them. According to Gardiner, the unemployment issues and Thatcher's reactions created challenging situations for young people and women. Unemployed and low paid workers are linked to less unionised workers, and the use of women as a reserve army of labour added to this issue for the left. Thatcher's labour politics seemed to aim at harming the grass root of the leftist parties. The Conservatives were launching an attack on a vital section of the left in Britain.

The Attacking Nature of Thatcherism

During Thatcher's first premiership, one could see a break from the politics created in the wake of WW2. The postwar consensus was created under a climate that accepted that it would lean towards a more leftist/Labour type of politics; it was a social-democratic consensus. Some of the writers in *Marxism Today* interpreted the government's policies as a breach of what one had previously agreed on, whereas others, such as economist

¹⁶¹ Tyler 1982: 24

¹⁶² Tyler 1982: 23

¹⁶³ Harrison 1982: 23

¹⁶⁴ Costello 1982: 42

¹⁶⁵ McLennan 1980: 12

¹⁶⁶ McLennan 1980: 13

¹⁶⁷ Gardiner 1981: 6

¹⁶⁸ Gardiner 1981: 6

John Grahl and academic Ian Gough, saw the new policies as an attack on the labour movement and the ideology of the left.

Gamble argued for the first view. He believes that the Conservatives proposed "a full scale assault". ¹⁶⁹ He further emphasises how shocking this attack is by pointing out that several of Thatcher's fellow party members were against these policies. Notably, during the infamous reshuffle of September 1981, Thatcher removed several party members that disagreed with her from her cabinet. A couple of years later, in 1983, Hugo Levie wrote an article concerned mainly with the privatisation of Britain. ¹⁷⁰ Two years after Gamble's assessment that the Conservatives were launching an assault, Levie writes that they have successfully attacked the consensus. The results were increased privatisation and worse conditions for the working population. ¹⁷¹ Phil Lee concludes, similarly to Gamble, that Thatcherism embodies a break from the postwar consensus. ¹⁷²

However, not everyone saw it as just an attack on what was agreed on, but also an attack on the movement itself. John Grahl believes that the Conservatives are posing a real threat to the labour movement. Their policies harm the working population, and in total, their policies are "doing serious damage both to the productive system and to the organisation of the labour movement within it." As previously stated, Jack Adams shares this view; he finds that the Thatcherite policies weaken the resistance. 174

Similarly, several of the writers in Marxism Today understand the Thatcher policies as attacks on the ideologies of the left, such as social democracy, socialism, and communism. Ian Gough is concerned with the attack on the very heart of the left, the welfare state. Gough does not see this as necessarily just an attack based on economics, which is how Thatcher argues for it, but also as an attack based on ideology. 175 He experiences that a lot of the policies relating to privatisation of the welfare state are rooted in thoughts about 'deserving' and 'undeserving', poor, which lead to efforts to weaken the organised working class. Peter Leonard sees how some aspects of the Thatcher government's rhetoric, especially concerning 'welfare-scavengers', have "penetrated sections of the working class". 176 This change of thinking in the working class was especially damaging to the Labour Party. In the Roundtable Discussion, Jeff Rodrigues, at that time, an active member of the Communist Party, argues that the 1979-83 Government operated differently from the previous Conservative governments. Whereas the ones before operated "in a principally pragmatic way", the first Thatcher government's policies were more ideological. 177 Furthermore, Thatcher thrived in the new political climate where the left's ideals were seen as dangerous for Britain. 178

Thatcher's Foreign Policies as a Disconcerting Issue for the Left

In addition to the domestic policies, the Thatcher government had to make several decisions relating to foreign affairs. Particularly significant for Thatcher's first period was the relationship with the US, defence, and the Falklands war. McLennan addresses several

¹⁶⁹ Gamble 1981: 9

¹⁷⁰ Levie 1983

¹⁷¹ Levie 1983: 28, 29

¹⁷² Lee 1982: 22

¹⁷³ Grahl 1980: 7, 11

¹⁷⁴ Ciccone 1980: 21

¹⁷⁵ Gough 1980: 8

¹⁷⁶ Leonard 1970: 11

¹⁷⁷ Ciccone 1980: 17

¹⁷⁸ Saunders 2012: 30

aspects of Thatcherite politics, but especially economics and, with that, *foreign affairs*.¹⁷⁹ The Communist Party member is concerned with how the Conservatives work as a campaigner for American military policies.¹⁸⁰ In addition, he finds a misrepresentation of the military policies to the counterpart of the US, the Soviet Union and the other Warsaw Pact powers.¹⁸¹ Another take on the military policies of Thatcher comes from Mark Harrison. He sees that the defence spending on the national product will most likely increase.¹⁸² The total of these views is a leftist discontent with the focus of the military policies of Thatcher.

During the first Thatcher period, the Falklands war occurred, causing a difficult position for Thatcher where she had to decide. It could have been a potential disaster for Thatcher, but it became a triumph. 183 One of those who commented on Thatcher's decisions was Hobsbawm. His approach to the decision is more nuanced than the other articles addressing the foreign policies of the Conservative Party in this period. Hobsbawm finds that Thatcher had to do something; she could not do nothing. 184 Therefore he accepts that she had to do some intervention. Nonetheless, he disagrees with her actual approach. Luckily for Thatcher, the events of the Falklands war favoured her. Still, the British farleft's contempt for her and her politics increased. In the case of Thatcher's foreign policies from 1979 to 1983, there was little the left could do to hinder her approaches.

Desired Responses Expressed in Marxism Today

So far, reactions to Thatcher's policies have been mapped out, but it is also important to analyse what responses the authors of *Marxism Today* recommended for the left. These responses fall into three main categories: action, change, and uniting. The latter will be explored in chapter three. However, these categories are linked. An example of this is Priscott and Rodrigues. Both saw the action needed and the uniting of different groupings on the left as linked. Priscott saw that labour movements started planning responses to the upcoming Thatcherite policies right after the General Election, which he wanted all the 'anti-Tory movements' to join. ¹⁸⁵ This was a step further in expanding the campaigning previously done in South Yorkshire. Priscott and Rodrigues agree that the cuts need to be campaigned against in the streets. ¹⁸⁶

When Tebbit's Law was passed in 1982, there were strong reactions and a call for action in *Marxism Today*. Christian Tyler was, as mentioned, concerned with the effects the bill could have on the trade union organisation. In his article, he brings up the eightpoint strategy of the TUC¹⁸⁷ and how that can be used to neuter the law. ¹⁸⁸ In addition, he

23

¹⁷⁹ McLennan 1980

¹⁸⁰ McLennan 1980: 12

¹⁸¹ McLennan 1980: 12

¹⁸² Harrison 1981: 15

¹⁸³ Gamble 1988: 111

¹⁸⁴ Hobsbawm 1983: 16

¹⁸⁵ Priscott 1980: 14

¹⁸⁶ Priscott 1980; Rodrigues 1980: 22

¹⁸⁷ Len Murray, TUC General Secretary 1973-1984, as cited in Lang & Dodkins 2011: ch. 3, said the following about the campaign: "we cannot be sure that we can deliver ... Government propaganda has even found credence among many of our members who value what their own unions do for them, but are, paradoxically and illogically, at best apathetic and, at worst, sympathetic to the Government's purpose. We have a major job alerting trade unionists themselves to the real nature of the proposals". Tyler 1982: 28: "Union leaders have declared themselves ready to go to jail; they have warned that their retaliation will be political in the same sense that the legislation is 'political'."

¹⁸⁸ Tyler 1982: 28

brings up how union leaders are prepared to perform civil disobedience and that the retaliation will be political. In other words, Tyler supports the active attacks on the planned law. Mick Costello agrees that active resistance is the way to go in his response to Tyler. Costello argues that the bill can be fought if "workers insist on conducting the struggle for better conditions." He also brings up the paradox that several of the ways they can fight this law have now been made unlawful by it. Consequently, there will be more civil disobedience, Tyler claims. 190

In addition to action and uniting, some saw that there needed to be a change within the movement to fight Thatcher's policies. Communist Party member Corrigan believed that Thatcher could build support around the attacks on trade unions because of existing problems within the unions. ¹⁹¹ Accordingly, the solution was to restructure the trades union movement to create something that would be difficult for the Conservatives to attack without getting a backlash. The main issue was, according to Corrigan, the anti-democratic elements, and therefore the solution would be to ensure as much democracy as possible. ¹⁹² At the end of Thatcher's first period, Levie took on how the current labour movement has to acknowledge that it "does not organise the unwaged and the working class as consumers." ¹⁹³ The answer is socialisation. All of these takes on the situation that calls for change have one thing in common: the left needs to change within to take on the external issues.

Marxism Today's Views on Thatcher's First Term

Several contributions published in *Marxism Today* examined and reacted to Thatcher's policies in her first period of office and her principles. There is a sense of a shared experience of the policies and what responses should be implemented for the most part. Several views about public expenditure, working-class issues, and what responses should have been implemented are presented, but none are actively opposed. At most, some views are moderated, such as Pond on taxation policies. ¹⁹⁴ In the contributions to the debates about public expenditure and to desired responses, ideas from the investigative debates of the 1979 General Election defeat were brought up again. These ideas were about the composition of the left, and they came as a part of debates about national campaigns. ¹⁹⁵

Grahl, Gough and Adams found that the attacks were aimed at Labour and the left, but Gamble, Levie and Lee saw the new policies primarily as attacks on the post-war consensus. Although these views seem opposite, both fit with the thought that the Conservatives are attacking the ideas and ideology that Labour has been arguing for in the past decades, which is also something that Leonard and Rodrigues agree with.

In the debate about foreign affairs, Hobsbawm's contribution is a moderate version of McLennan and Mark Harrison's explicit critique of the present politics of the Conservative party. Hobsbawm is more mild, and his view is therefore not part of a consensus. However, it is necessary to point out that Hobsbawm's article responds to the Falklands war, an unusual circumstance. Nonetheless, his reaction to Thatcherism in *Marxism Today* stands out not on the grounds of its compelling argument but rather because it is one of the few

¹⁸⁹ Costello 1982: 43

¹⁹⁰ Costello 1982: 43

¹⁹¹ Corrigan 1979: 16

¹⁹² Corrigan 1979: 16

¹⁹³ Levie 1983: 32

¹⁹⁴ Pond 1983

¹⁹⁵ E.g. Priscott 1980; Bower and Sutton 1980

contributions that disagree with the general consensus of discontent in the magazine. The contributors to the magazine who reacted to Thatcher's ideology and politics were united on the significant issues for the left, such as public expenditure and the trade unions.

The acknowledgement on the left that they have their own issues is striking. An example of this is the struggle to defend the status quo on issues such as welfare services. Corrigan, Bower and Sutton all find that major changes have to happen. Simultaneously, Thatcherite rhetoric is not yet fully implemented. This poses a difficult situation for the left where they are not able to provide an acceptable alternative yet but still have to act before Thatcher implements her ideas. Furthermore, the faults on the left make it challenging to attack the government, which seems to be able to respond to the issues occupying Britain at the moment. Therefore, the left is in a desperate situation to reinvent themselves and investigate what can be done.

The Future of Leftist Politics

At this pivotal moment for the left and the Labour Party, they had to look to the future. For the time being, they were not able to pose as a good alternative for the voters compared to Thatcher. An intellectual and introspective investigation of what the left could do to prevent a continuation of the decline took place in outlets such as *Marxism Today*. It led to significant changes within the Labour Party. The intellectual stimulus induced a project of modernisation in the 1980s.¹⁹⁶ It accumulated into the 1983 manifesto, which represented a clear shift to the left in the Labour Party.¹⁹⁷ The intellectual processes were, to some degree, heard. The internal changes within the movement provided some hope for the left. However, in 1983, when the Labour Party adopted a more socialist approach, it suffered its worst electoral loss in about half a century.¹⁹⁸ The manifesto has gone down as 'the longest suicide note in history'.¹⁹⁹

The impact of discussions in the years following the crushing election loss of 1979 caused a significant shift in one of the biggest parties in Britain. The debates about the left's future in *Marxism Today* were primarily concerned with change regarding whom they need to cooperate with, strategy, and ideology. The contributions to these issues reveal that in this time of crisis for the left, there is virtually a unison voice in *Marxism Today* asking for a re-thinking of what the left should be. The left worked together to form an opinion about the future.

Possible Alliances on the Left

As previously explored, some of the contributors in *Marxism Today* called for 'anti-tory movements', organisations, and the left to unite to fight specific Thatcherite policies such as the cuts in welfare and Tebbit's law.²⁰⁰ Several saw this as an option when working out a strategy to regain Labour and leftist support. However, there were some different takes regarding who should be included in the alliance.

Many called for a united movement in the debate concerning the cuts proposed by Thatcher's government. Priscott was concerned with the attack on trade unions and social service cuts, and, as previously mentioned, he is one of those who called for a national campaign to fight the cuts. Quite interestingly, he is not asking the left to unite. Priscott is calling for all anti-tory movements to come together. What needs to be done is to combine the struggles of each of these movements into a broader movement. None of the contributions in the discussion concerning the cuts in *Marxism Today* explicitly calls for the British Left to unite. The closest are Ashworth and Riley. They wanted the trade union movements and other community organisations to be brought together with local Labour councils. Bower and Sutton indirectly turn to the left, addressing the problems posed by the Right. They are, similarly to Priscott, advocating for combining struggles into a national campaign to fight said problems. Rodrigues, the last contributor to this debate, makes a more general comment concerning the 'Fightback Campaign' and how it must be

¹⁹⁶ Diamond 2021: 77

¹⁹⁷ Diamond 2021: 142

¹⁹⁸ Diamond 2021: 137

¹⁹⁹ Mann, 2003

²⁰⁰ E.g. Priscott 1980; Bower & Sutton 1980; Ashworth & Riley 1980

²⁰¹ Priscott 1980: 18

²⁰² Ashworth & Riley 1980: 28

²⁰³ Bower & Sutton 1980: 29

developed, broadened and more effectively involving community organisations.²⁰⁴ The debaters called for unity.

The most instinctive group to turn to for Labour and the left is the working population, specifically the organised workers. Several articles in *Marxism Today* reflect this. Even before the election, when one could see an election loss coming, Pete Carter appealed to the working class and its organisations to use its democratic strengths. He wants to use 'the industrial muscle'.²⁰⁵ Digby Jacks is like-minded. He argues that there should be an alliance but that it should always be working class orientated.²⁰⁶ He bases his claim on that the organised working-class is central to the broad democratic alliance that Labour has always represented. Hall agrees with Carter and Jacks. In two separate contributions to *Marxism Today*, he mentions the importance of the working class in the movement.²⁰⁷ Nonetheless, he also argues that there should be a construction of a historical understanding of the class and modern.²⁰⁸ That is not all. In his first article, Hall is clear that women and people of colour should be included in the movement; there needs to be an expansion of focus.²⁰⁹ Although Hall argues for a focus on the working class, he also wants to include women and minorities in that group. He expands the perception of what the working class is.

Others agree with Hall on the issue concerning women and the left, such as Jean Gardiner and Jon Bloomfield. Gardiner believes that the left would fail to reach women if they did not get the support of the women's movement, which would be possible, according to her, if the movement made women a more involved group in decision making and strategy development. Further, Gardiner argues that such a change in the left would cause them to be the only credible democratic alternative. Bloomfield also saw that the left had to win the women to win the people. He suggests looking at women activists' wish for women to be directly elected to the national executive and ensuring "at least one women candidate on every parliamentary short-list."

Leonard and McLennan provide other takes on creating an alliance. The former wants an offensive linking trade union battles with community politics²¹³, in other words, workers at the centre, and the latter argues for uniting those who are anti-tory and creating an even broader alliance.²¹⁴ McLennan was a central member of the Communist Party and held the position of General Secretary from 1975 to 1990. His call for the left to unite has to be seen in the light of his wish to give greater importance to his party. Leonard similarly has an apparent loyalty to the labour movement and, naturally, the workers. The two contributors argued for a direction for the Labour Party that would benefit their cause, which we also find in the other contributors such as Jean Gardiner and the women's movement, from the trade unions Digby Jacks and Pete Carter. Their loyalty paints their proposed paths for the left and Labour, and despite different wishes, they agree that there should be an alliance. The question of strategy for the left and perhaps these alliances was also a topic of concern.

2

²⁰⁴ Rodrigues 1980: 22

²⁰⁵ Carter 1979: 29

²⁰⁶ Jacks 1979: 125

²⁰⁷ Hall 1980: 28; Hall 1982

²⁰⁸ Hall 1980: 28; Hall 1982: 17

²⁰⁹ Hall 1980: 28

²¹⁰ Gardiner 1981: 11

²¹¹ Gardiner 1981: 11

²¹² Bloomfield 1980: 10

²¹³ Leonard 1979: 13

²¹⁴ McLennan 1980: 16

Taking on an Offensive: Active & Aggressive

During Labour's time in opposition to the first Thatcher government, several called for a more offensive approach. A more aggressive and active direction for the left and Labour induced many suggestions. The view that Labour should launch an attack on the Conservative Party came from McLennan. He wanted, as stated previously, an alliance linking all those who are anti-tory. He also saw that the mission of this alliance was to "deepen [the divisions within the Conservative Party] and make greater difficulties for Thatcher in her ranks by stepping up the fight against government policies and winning further millions of people to a position of political opposition to the government." McLennan argues for the movement to be offensive by attacking the new government's policies.

In the debate "The Forward March of Labour Halted?" initiated by Hobsbawm, several contributors believe that action needs to be taken and that the labour movement's actions bear the mark of being idle. Pete Carter is one of those who explicitly takes on precisely this and attacks the whole left-wing for being too defensive, including the communists, trade unions and the labour movement. He believes that the General Secretary of Manufacturing, Science and Finance Ken Gill's claim that the movement is stronger than ever is an excellent example of the ideas that cause the movement to be passive. Halpin points out that the Labour Party makes advances, but they are not coming quickly enough. Roger Murray shares this view and points out that the movement is not effectively challenging the current political shift. Both Halpin and Murray see a need for change in how the movement is conducted, which is more efficient and more actively challenges the shift.

Another take on this was presented by Priscott in October 1981. He writes about how the Labour Party cannot expect the voters to come back unless they become more offensive; "unless the labour movement turns outwards to champion the widest section of the British people."²²⁰ Whereas McLennan, Carter, Halpin, and Murray call for an offensive directed toward the government, either actively opposing the policies or working more effectively against the change, Priscott argues for a more active approach to reach the people. By putting in action in the areas of the population, such as workplaces and the streets, Priscott believes that the left can achieve a change.

The Need for Self-Examination on the Left

Preceding the election loss of 1979, Hobsbawm called for a radical self-examination to recover the socialist movement. This invitation for introspection on the left was included in the iconic publication in *Marxism Today*, "The Forward March of Labour Halted?" which sparked debate and introversion within the movement. The question of how the left needed to change to recover continued throughout the first period of the Thatcher government. The words authored by Hobsbawm that truly started the intellectual process were:

If the labour and socialist movement is to recover its soul, its dynamism, and its historical initiative, we, as marxists, must do what Marx would certainly have done: to recognise the novel situation in which we find ourselves, to analyse it realistically

²¹⁵ McLennan 1980: 16

²¹⁶ Carter 1979: 29

²¹⁷ Carter 1979: 29

²¹⁸ Halpin 1979: 64

²¹⁹ Murray 1979: 93

²²⁰ Priscott 1981: 33

and concretely, to analyse the reasons, historical and otherwise, for the failures, as well as the successes of the labour movement, and to formulate not only what we would want to do, but what can be done.²²¹

Some of the ideas in the period called for a combination of efforts. Peter Leonard, as mentioned, wanted an alliance. He also specifies that this alliance should be campaigning for a distinctively socialist programme. Notably, he claims that the programmes were not enough as they previously had failed; Leonard sees a need to attack their ideology and the structure of the services that the Labour Party and the left had fought for to restructure. Only then would the left have something to campaign for that could recover their support.

Priscott, who argued for the Labour Party to turn outwards, states that the starting point would be the realities of the labour movement. The findings would have to be analysed to "understand the real dynamics of change in the trade unions and Labour Party."²²³ He briefly exemplifies this examination as he looks at the structure of the party and the contradiction that can be found in "the basic class interests of the millions of workers in the trade union movement and the anti-working-class policies of Labour's right wing and of all previous Labour governments."²²⁴

Stuart Hall predicted the upcoming election loss in the final year of Thatcher's first period in office. Hall saw it fitting for the left to undertake the radical self-examination proposed by Hobsbawm prior to the General Election in 1979. 225 The call for an introspective view continued through Thatcher's first period as several people on the left wrote about it in *Marxism Today*. Evidently, the necessary introspection did not occur as the 1983 General Election resulted in another devastating loss for the Labour Party.

Internal Change as Prerequisite for Resurgence of Support

Similarly to the thoughts of self-examination and introspection, several contributors in *Marxism Today* saw the need for changes of restructuring and continuation and a new focus within the movement. These thoughts resulted from the introspection called for initially by the renowned Hobsbawm.

One of those addressing restructurings is Hall. While addressing the need for self-examination, Hall states that he saw the ongoing crisis of the working-class movement as structural and long term.²²⁶ According to Hall, the movement has to be turned into a political instrument. On that matter, trade unionist Bernard Dix argues for politicising the unions. He sees it as necessary to involve the union members in the Labour Party.²²⁷ This would restructure not only the leadership of Labour but also the relationship between the party and the trade unions. Bloomfield, similarly to Dix, wants a transformation of the role of each member in decision-making.²²⁸ Moreover, Bloomfield talks about reassessing the influence of all members and affiliated people in the party. These arguments are similar

²²¹ Hobsbawm 1978: 286

²²² Leonard 1979: 12

²²³ Priscott 1981: 32

²²⁴ Priscott 1981: 32

²²⁵ Hall 1982: 16

²²⁶ Hall 1982: 21

²²⁷ Dix 1980: 24

²²⁸ Bloomfield 1980: 10, 11

to those found in Paul Corrigan's article, which was mainly a reaction to Thatcher's politics about making the trade unions more democratic.²²⁹

Some contributors in *Marxism Today* argued that aspects of the movement should be continued. Le Cornu addressed the Communist Party specifically and asked for the principles of revolution and socialism to prevail and be followed.²³⁰ Priscott looked at the Labour Party's organised roots in the industry and the labour movement. He pointed out that without it, the British road to socialism would be "an academic exercise with no more value than any of the other rival left-wing strategies toted around by a variety of leftist groupings."²³¹ Priscott argues for more democracy in trade unions but also that labour should not forget its roots. Those furthest on the left wanted to stick to the traditional values while being pressured to do something new.

For others, change was at the centre of what needed to be done to restart 'the forward march'. Hall wrote in February 1980 that the reconstruction of a popular force on the left would go nowhere "if it is posed simply as a return to the state of things before the deluge." ²³² Ian Gough also sees the need to develop the traditional politics of Labour into something more in accord with the democratic movements developed in and against the welfare state. Therefore, he sees the need for a new strategy. ²³³ Similarly, Leonard finds that the ideological level of the battle had to be turned by the left. ²³⁴ The want for change fostered suggestions of a new focus within the labour movement.

New Focus for the Left: Building an Alternative

There were numerous contributions in *Marxism Today* about the new focus of the politics on the left, particularly the Labour Party, should be. However, the contributions could fit into two categories. There is a sense of consensus on what direction the politics of the left should take: firstly focusing on the conjunctural, and secondly, evolving alternative strategies to those who hold power. As previously mentioned, the Labour Party did evolve an alternative economic strategy. However, it did not respond to the issues Britain was facing at the moment, and therefore it did not appeal to the people.²³⁵

Hall wrote three contributions published in *Marxism Today* about why and how the left should focus on the conjunctural. His first article explains how the Conservative Party defines the conjunctural and how that benefits them.²³⁶ He sees that the opposition needs to move onto this terrain. He continues his argument in the following articles and points out how the left is in crisis partly due to their struggle to transform the popular democratic struggle.²³⁷ Hall continues to emphasise this and states that there is a need to reconstruct class unity. It cannot be constructed based on history, but it must be "recognisably present and modern".²³⁸ Some of the answers to Hall's contributions supported him in his argument about the conjunctural.²³⁹ Carter also sees that to revive the campaigns of labour and the trade union movement, "the vision or the gleam of Communism," had to be linked "with

²²⁹ Priscott 1980: 18

²³⁰ Le Cornu 1979: 127

²³¹ Priscott 1980: 18

²³² Hall 1980: 28

²³³ Gough 1980: 12

²³⁴ Leonard 1979: 11

²³⁵ Diamond 2021: 89-90

²³⁶ Hall 1979: 20

²³⁷ Hall 1980: 28

²³⁸ Hall 1982: 18

²³⁹ E.g Carter 1979, Newens 1979, Slipman 1980

the day to day struggles."²⁴⁰ Newens followed by stating that in the times that they are in, which are marked by a sense of crisis, there is a need to link politics to the daily needs of the people. Slipman concludes that with a focus on the needs expressed by the people, the left could win broad political support.²⁴¹

There were a variety of other contributions arguing for a focus on the conjunctural, the immediate needs of the people, including radical socialist economist Pat Devine, member of the Communist Party Jeff Rodrigues, British historian Robin Blackburn, and Alan Wilker. Devine meant that developing movements on the left-wing around policies for the people would extend the control of all those involved over the decisions that affect their lives. ²⁴² Rodrigues follows the lines of Hall and claims that this is what the left should have been doing all along: "starting from peoples' experiences." ²⁴³ Blackburn and Wilker agree as both see it as the left and labour movement's task to extend the struggles and link its politics to the conjunctural. ²⁴⁴

Evolving alternative strategies to the current politics of the government was crucial to Labour. If they could not pose as a serious alternative, they would not gain support. There is an apparent concurrence that Labour does not pose as an alternative at this time and therefore needs to evolve to be one. This view is argued for in *Marxism Today*. Wilker points out that the left does not have a strategy, and without that, they cannot counter Thatcherism.²⁴⁵ Gordon McLennan and Mark Harrison, the former a member of the Communist Party and the latter an economist, agree that Labour does not provide a satisfying economic strategy.²⁴⁶ This call for a new strategy that can be seen as an alternative to Thatcher's new policies is further argued for at the end of Thatcher's first period by Phil Lee. He writes that the British Left could build a real alternative if they "skilfully [blend] an appeal to reflation and increased economic growth with a genuine appraisal of social goods."²⁴⁷ Lee's contribution to *Marxism Today* in May 1983 marks the end of a period of analysis and evaluation for the left as a whole and concludes that there is work that needs to be done to regain the support needed.

Marxism Today's Views on The Future of Leftist Politics

Efforts were made to determine how the left could recover and gain new territory after 1979. There is a consensus that change has to happen in the debates concerning the road ahead or the possible directions for the left and Labour. Hall and Hobsbawm were more present than in the debates concerning the previous election and the Thatcher policies between 1979 and 1983. Both were active and dominant in all the major debates on what could be done. They represented multiple consensuses on the left about what should be the next steps for the left.

Hobsbawm's "The Forward March of Labour Halted?" was an early call for a more offensive strategy. This is heavily agreed on as there is a consensus that the left has been too passive. This call for a more aggressive approach varies in the proposed targets: McLennan wanted attacks on Thatcherism; Halpin and Murray sought increased efficiency within the party; Priscott wanted a more active approach in recruiting voters. None of

²⁴⁰ Carter 1979: 30

²⁴¹ Slipman 1980: 29

²⁴² Devine 1980: 16

²⁴³ Ciccone 1980: 17

²⁴⁴ Blackburn 1982: 37; Wilker 1982: 31

²⁴⁵ Wilker 1982: 26

²⁴⁶ McLennan 1980: 15; Harrison 1981: 17

²⁴⁷ Lee 1983: 27

these desires was opposed, and the different targets did not eliminate each other. There is a consensus that the passive nature of the left had to be reversed. Similarly, Hobsbawm gained support for his call for self-examination, although various aspects that needed revising were proposed. The historian first proposed a process of (radical) introspection on the left and was followed by Leonard, Priscott and Hall.

Stuart Hall was one of the initiators of the debate on the new focus on the left. In general, there was a consensus that there should be an increased focus on the issues that the people were concerned with at the time. However, the authors seem reluctant to state what exactly these problems are. There is a certain ambiguity. However, similarly to Thatcher, the left finds that they should respond to the current situation. This view was widely accepted and agreed on. A few, particularly McLennan and Harrison, added that there should be an increased focus on creating a new economic alternative. Similarly, in the discussion in *Marxism Today* on the internal contributions to the decline, there was a consensus that there needed to be a change that Hall stood at the forefront for. Le Cornu and Priscott were of the few who felt the need to state the importance of continuing the roots and principles, but they did not oppose all change.

Hall was also central in the debate on which groups should be the primary focus of Labour and the left. He argued that at the heart of the left is the working class, but he saw the need to extend the traditional sense of what the working class was. Hall wanted an inclusion of minorities and women. Carter and Jacks supported the focus on the working class, and Gardiner and Bloomfield agreed with the extension. Others claimed that groups such as the Communist Party or the trade unions should gain more ground. However, there was a general agreement that the focus on the working class should remain, but the group had to be rethought and perhaps expanded. In *Marxism Today*, there were vivid debates about the future of the left. There was much spirit in the debates and a clear consensus about the need for something to happen, a change.

Notably, despite the influence that the far-left had on the Labour Party, there is a lack of specific policy suggestions in the contributions to Marxism Today in this period. Many of the contributors are addressing how to respond to the current situation. However, the weight is on what the situation actually is affected by, such as Thatcherism or a decline in Labour support, and not concrete proposals for what could be done.²⁴⁸ For the most part, they propose general approaches such as uniting, attacking, and building an alternative. Some of the contributors made more specific suggestions, but yet not any specific policy suggestions. Gardiner focused primarily on the involvement of women. Ashworth and Riley were clear about the need for Labour Councils to work together with union movements and other community organisations. However, this is about as specific as it gets. Similarly, certain titles of articles in Marxism Today reveal a reluctance to state what exactly can be done: Wilker's "Why we need a social strategy" avoids the question of what the specifics of this strategy should be; Harrison's "What kind of fightback?" redirects the question to focus on the general type of strategy. It is difficult to know if avoiding concrete suggestions is a conscious choice by the left. Nonetheless, simply stating that there needs to be change in certain areas did not necessarily assist in posing the left as a real alternative in areas or ameliorating issues on the left.

32

²⁴⁸ E.g. Lee 1983, Harrison 1981, Hall 1980, Gough 1980, Le Cornu 1979, Bloomfield 1980, Halpin 1979, Murray 1979, Bower & Sutton 1980, Jacks 1979

Conclusion

The memory of *Marxism Today* is defined by those who write the historical accounts of what role the magazine had and what it contained. Eric Hobsbawm quotes the French historian Pierre Nora in *The Age of Empire: 1875-1914*, "Memory is life. It is always carried by groups of living people, and therefore it is in permanent evolution." What we remember from the past is decided by the people and those who write the history. For the past years, there has been an increased interest in *Marxism Today*, and it has been singled out as an object of study. Therefore, it is crucial that at this moment in the writing of history that its accounts are accurate. It is now that the initial shaping of the memory of the magazine will occur.

The election loss of 1979 remains a crushing blow for the Labour Party and the British Left in history. Considerable efforts were made to understand the defeat, and the left quickly started working on ways to ensure that it would not happen again. However, when the future Labour Prime Minister Tony Blair was in opposition in 1995, he argued:

The problem of the Labour Party in the 70s and 80s is not complex, it is simple; the society changed and the party didn't. So you had a whole new generation of people with different aspirations and ambitions, a different type of world, and we were still singing the same old songs that people had sung in the 40s and 50s.²⁵⁰

Blair may have been right about the Labour Party leadership, but it was not true about the whole labour movement, as this study shows. In the period following the defeat in the 1979 General Election, the Labour Party and the left started an inquisitive journey, which was both introspective and outward-looking. Martin Jacques saw a diverse manifold group of contributors in his years as editor. However, some of the names from the magazine have been overlooked in the history of *Marxism Today*. The names prevalent in the historical accounts, Hobsbawm, Hall, and Gamble, are famous today not simply because of their contributions to *Marxism Today* but also because of their work as academics and writers. Their significance in historical and political debates outside of the magazine is indisputable, but the weight put on these academics in historical accounts of *Marxism Today* is questionable. In this research, it has been established that these figures do not always represent the opinions in the magazine as a whole. As key academics, they are the initiative takers of some debates, but the range of opinion in these debates cannot be conveyed by only looking at articles such as "The Forward March Halted" or "The Great Moving Right Show".

When first assessing what exactly had happened in 1979, Hall and Hobsbawm initiated investigative debates. The facilitator was Martin Jacques and his magazine *Marxism Today*. There was initially much to say about what had happened. The opinions in the magazine were varied, but key arguments pointed to the structure of the left and the historical issues such as the disappointing previous Labour governments of Wilson and Callaghan. While trying to make sense of the decline that the left found itself in, those on the left had to react to Thatcher's policies. The contributors in *Marxism Today* expressed a feeling of anxiety towards the aggressive attitude of Thatcherism, which was interpreted as an attack on either the left or the post-war consensus.

Moreover, these experiences pushed the left to figure out what road they had to take to regain support and fight Thatcher's policies. Efforts were made to find areas of

33

²⁴⁹ Pierre Nora as cited in Hobsbawm 1987: 1

²⁵⁰ BBC 1995: 1:27 - 1:41

improvement. There was a consensus that *something* had to happen and change to ensure that the Labour Party could be seen as a viable alternative to the Conservative government. Influential thinkers such as Hall and Hobsbawm were active in this intellectual process. However, their and many others' contributions were somewhat vague and did not provide concrete suggestions for policies or the general direction of the movement. It is evident that there was a group of leftist intellectuals and activists who had the potential to assist the Labour Party in regaining support. However, it faced problems of unclarity and internal divisions. Within the Labour Party, there was tension between the most leftist voices and those more moderate. On the left there were ongoing discussions on whether Labour should focus on the working-class voters or include the new minorities and identities that emerged at this time.²⁵¹ Reinvention was an important topic, but there was no unison voice on which way to follow.

Despite the efforts in the magazine in 1979-1983, the Labour Party lost the second election. More significantly, this was the point in time where Thatcher had not yet implemented all of her ideas. This was only the beginning. The left had to react and either change or prove that the Labour Party was a credible alternative. The lack of concrete suggestions in the debates likely contributed to this; if the debates are simply ideological, theoretical and idealistic, how can the Labour Party be seen as ready to face the major challenges in Britain at the time? The left was not clueless as their introspective investigations revealed to them that there were significant issues within the movement. When the left did not respond quickly or effectively enough to Thatcher's policies, the Conservatives gained ground to implement the policies that the left saw as damaging to their core interests, such as the working class, public services, and trade unions.

The findings of this thesis contribute to understanding *Marxism Today* as an outlet and discursive space during Thatcher's first premiership. They also reveal aspects of the politics, actions, and ideas of the left, the Labour Party, and the Conservative government. The findings assist in better understanding what happened at this pivotal moment for the left in Britain and what discussions were held in the aftermath of the 1979 General Election. By looking at the contributions to the magazine during the second and third Thatcher governments in addition to the first, it would be possible to investigate these topics more broadly. However, this thesis contributes to the understanding of historical accounts about the period, and whether their focus on figures such as Gamble, Hall, and Hobsbawm is well-reasoned. The findings indicate that the focus on these influential contributors is not always well-reasoned and that there were significant differences in the opinions presented in the magazine. While most of the contributions were concerned with the same topics, such as understanding the decline of support, the nature of Thatcherism, and the road ahead for the left, the ideas presented revealed a broad range of opinions. The arguments in this thesis uncover areas of agreement and disagreement on the left.

At this time, the British Left knew that something needed to change.²⁵² The final outcome was the 1983 Labour Manifesto, but this was not successful as the Labour Party suffered another defeat at the 1983 General Election. The manifesto was part of a reinvention for the left, focusing on "modernising prospectus to supplant corporatist social democracy"²⁵³. *Marxism Today* as an influential leftist outlet in this era was a part of the intellectual process leading to it. The magazine remains today as an interesting object of study due to its influence in British politics, its renowned contributors, and the value it is

²⁵¹ Murphy 2020: 291

²⁵² Diamond 2021: 23-24 ²⁵³ Diamond 2021: 47

given through historical accounts as a 'symbol of an era'. ²⁵⁴ As revealed through this research, the contributors were not always in unison about the British Left's serious problems in this period. Moreover, the magazine cannot be treated as one opinion as this thesis has revealed that it does not speak with one voice. Without being conscious of the range of opinions in the magazine at this significant time, one can easily lose valuable information about both sides of the political spectrum in Britain at this crucial time for the left. Not only was *Marxism Today* a vital outlet for the British Left, but it remains a valuable source to understand the ideas and politics of the period better.

⁻

²⁵⁴ Colm Murphy, "The forgotten rival of Marxism Today: the British Labour Party's New Socialist and the business of political culture in the late twentieth century". (Forthcoming in *English Historical Review*.)

References

Primary Sources

Marxism Today

The following sources are retrieved from https://banmarchive.org.uk/marxism-today/

Ashworth, M., & Riley, P. (1980, August). The Cuts. Marxism Today, 27-28.

Blackburn, R. (1982, January). Can Labour Succeed?. Marxism Today, 36-37.

Bloomfield, J. (1980, December). Labour's Long Haul. Marxism Today, 6-12.

Bower, C., & Sutton, P. (1980, June). The Cuts. Marxism Today, 28-29.

Carter, P. (1979, January). The Forward March of Labour Halted?. Marxism Today, 27-30.

Ciccone, E. (Transcriber). (1980, September). Where are we now? A Roundtable Discussion. *Marxism Today*, 17-23.

Corrigan, P. (1979, December). Popular Consciousness and Social Democracy. *Marxism Today*, 14-17.

Costello, M. (1982, June). Tebbits Law: a Tory dream come true. Marxism Today, 42-43.

Devine, P. (1980, January). The Labour Party - why the decline?. Marxism Today, 12-16.

Dix, B. (1980, March). Thatcherism - a new stage?. Marxism Today, 22-24.

Gamble, A. (1979, November). The Decline of the Conservative Party. *Marxism Today*, 6-11.

Gamble, A. (1980, November). Thatcher - make or break. Marxism Today, 14-19.

Gamble, A. (1981, November). Mrs Thatcher's Bunker: the reshuffle and its consequences. *Marxism Today*, 6-11.

Gardiner, J. (1981, March). Women, Recession and the Tories. Marxism Today, 5-11.

Gough, I. (1980, July). Thatcherism and the Welfare State. Marxism Today, 7-12.

Grahl, J. (1980, June). De-industrialisation and the Tories. Marxism Today, 5-11.

Hall, S. (1979, January). The Great Moving Right Show. Marxism Today, 14-20.

Hall, S. (1980, February). Thatcherism - a new stage?. Marxism Today, 26-28.

Hall, S. (1982, November). A Long Haul. Marxism Today, 16-21.

Halpin, K. (1979, February). The Forward March Halted?. Marxism Today, 63-64.

Harrison, J. (1982, July). Thatcherism: is it working?. Marxism Today, 11-25.

Harrison, M. (1981, September). Defence: the Tory dilemma. Marxism Today, 13-17.

Harrison, R. (1979, June). The Forward March of Labour Halted?. *Marxism Today*, 188-191.

Hobsbawm, E. (1978, September). The Forward March of Labour Halted?. *Marxism Today*, 279-286.

Hobsbawm, E. (1983, January). Falklands Fallout. Marxism Today, 13-19.

Jacks, D. (1979, April). The Forward March of Labour Halted?. Marxism Today, 124-125.

Le Cornu, Mike. (1979, April). The Forward March. Marxism Today, 125-127.

Lee, P. (1983, May). Welfare State: the Second Front opens. Marxism Today, 22-27.

Leonard, P. (1979, December). Restructuring the Welfare State. Marxism Today, 7-13.

Levie, H. (1983, April). Britain goes to the Sales. Marxism Today, 28-32.

McLennan, G. (1980, September). What Kind of Fightback?. Marxism Today, 12-16.

Murray, R. (1979, March). The Forward March of Labour Halted?. Marxism Today, 93-95.

Newens, S. (1979, July). The Forward March of Labour Halted?. Marxism Today, 227-228.

Pond, C. (1983, February). Taxation: a political liability. Marxism Today, 15-19.

- Priscott, D. (1980, February). Campaigning Against the Cuts the South Yorkshire experience. *Marxism Today*, 14-18.
- Priscott, D. (1981, October). Can Labour Succeed?. Marxism Today, 31-35
- Rodrigues, J. (1980, May). Fighting the Cuts the Lambeth Experience. *Marxism Today*, 18-25.
- Slipman, S. (1980, July). Thatcherism a new stage?. Marxism Today, 27-29.
- Tyler, C. (1982, April). Tebbit's Law: a Tory dream come true. Marxism Today, 23-28.
- Wilker, A. (1982, September). Why we need a social strategy. Marxism Today, 26-31.

Other Primary Sources

- Connor, L. (1986). Behind Marxism Today: Martin Jacques Interview. *Australian Left Review*, (95), 12-15, 32.
- Jacques, M., & Mulhern, F. (Eds.) (1981). Forward March of Labour halted?. NLB in association with Marxism Today.

Secondary Sources

- Aikman, C. (2021). The Fragmentation of the Labour Party right, c. 1970 1983 [PhD. thesis]. The University of Edinburgh.
- Andrews, G. (2004). *Endgames and New Times: The Final Years of British Communism* 1964-1991. Lawrence & Wisheart.
- Barker, R. (1997). *Political Ideas in Modern Britain : In and After the Twentieth Century*.

 Routledge.

 BBC (Producer) (1995). Cast into the Wilderness [Television episode]. In The
 - BBC (Producer). (1995). Cast into the Wilderness [Television episode]. In *The Wilderness Years*.
- Black, L. (2003). 'What kind of people are you?' Labour, the people and the 'new political history'. In J. Callaghan, S. Fielding & S. Ludlam (Eds.), *Interpreting the Labour Party* (pp. 23-38). Manchester University Press.
- Ciáurriz, I. I. (2020). Looking for a Dream, Surviving a Time of Nightmares: Eric Hobsbawm, *Marxism Today* and the Resignification of Antifascism During Thatcher's Time. *Fascism*, 9, 146-166. DOI: 10.1163/22116257-09010005
- Cooke, G. & Rutherford, J. (2011). Marxism Today, today?. *Public Policy Research*, *18*(*3*), 126-129. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1744-540X.2011.00652.x</u>
- Crossen-White, H. L. (2015). Using digital archives in historical research: What are the ethical concerns for a 'forgotten' individual?. *Research Ethics*, 11(2), 108-119. DOI: 10.1177/1747016115581724
- Davis, J. & McWilliam, R. (2017). Introduction: new histories of Labour and the left in the 1980s. In J. Davis and R. McWilliam (Eds.), *Labour and the Left in the 1980s* (pp. 1-23). Manchester University Press.
- Diamond, P. (2021). *The British Labour Party in Opposition and Power 1979-2019: Forward March Halted?*. Routledge.
- du Cros, A. (2022). The Idea of the Labour Left. *Contemporary British History*, *36*(1), 53-85. DOI: <u>10.1080/13619462.2021.1967751</u>
- Gamble, A. (1988). *The Free Economy and the Strong State: The Politics of Thatcherism*. The Macmillan Press LTD.
- Green, E.H.H. (2006). Thatcher. Oxford University Press.
- Harris, J. (2015, September 29). Marxism Today: the forgotten visionaries whose ideas could save Labour. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2015/sep/29/marxism-today-forgotten-visionaries-whose-ideas-could-save-labour
- Hay, C. (2003). How to study the Labour Party: contextual, analytical and theoretical. In J. Callaghan, S. Fielding & S. Ludlam (Eds.), *Interpreting the Labour Party* (pp. 182-196). Manchester University Press.
- Hay, C. (2009). The Winter of Discontent Thirty Years On. *The Political Quarterly*, *80*(4), 545-552. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1467-923X.2009.02052.x</u>
- Heppell, T. (2010). The Labour Party Leadership Election of 1963: Explaining the Unexpected Election of Harold Wilson. *Contemporary British History*, 24(2), 151-171. DOI: 10.1080/13619461003768264
- Hilliard, C. (2006). Producers by Hand and by Brain: Working-Class Writers and Left-Wing Publishers in 1930s Britain. *The Journal of Modern History*, 78(1), 37-64. DOI: 10.1086/499794
 - Hobsbawm, E. (1987). The Age of Empire: 1875-1914. Weidenfeld & Nicolson.
- Lang, J. & Dodkins. G. (2011). Bad News: The Wrapping Dispute. Spokesman.
- Lawrence, J. (2010). Political history. In S. Berger, H. Feldner, & K. Passmore (Eds.), *Writing History: Theory and Practice* (2nd ed., pp. 209-227). Bloomsbury.

- Layborn, K. (2002). Fifty Key Figures in Twentieth Century British Politics. Routledge.
- Letwin, S. R. (1992). The Anatomy of Thatcherism. Routledge.
- Ludlam, S. (2003). Too much pluralism, not enough socialism: interpreting the unionsparty link. In J. Callaghan, S. Fielding & S. Ludlam (Eds.), *Interpreting the Labour Party* (pp. 150-165). Manchester University Press.
- Mann, N. (2003, 14 July). Foot's message of hope to the left. *BBC News*. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk news/politics/3059773.stm
- Martin, T. (2009). The Beginning of Labor's End? Britain's "Winter of Discontent" and Working-Class Women's Activism. *International Labor and Working-Class History*, (75), 49-67. DOI: 10.1017/S0147547909000052
- Murphy, C. (2020). The 'Rainbow Alliance' or the Focus Group? Sexuality and Race in the Labour Party's Electoral Strategy, 1985–7. *Twentieth Century British History*, Vol. 31, No. 3, 2020, 291–315. DOI: 10.1093/tcbh/hwz015
- Murphy, C. The forgotten rival of Marxism Today: the British Labour Party's New Socialist and the business of political culture in the late twentieth century. [Forthcoming in *English Historical Review*]. Institute of Historical Research, London, UK.
- Nobbs, P. (2015). *The Story of the British and Their Weather: From Frost Fairs to Indian Summers*. Amberley Publishing Limited.
- Pimlott, B. (1992). Harold Wilson. HarperCollinsPublishers.
- Pimlott, H. (2006). Write Out of the Margins. *Journalism Studies*, *7*(*5*), 782-806. DOI: 10.1080/14616700600890448
- Pimlott, H. F. (2000). 'From the Margins to the Mainstream': A Study of the Transformation of Marxism Today [PhD. Thesis]. University of London.

 Platt, E. (2015, August 4). Inside the Morning Star, Britain's last communist
 - newspaper. The New Statesman.
 - https://www.newstatesman.com/uncategorized/2015/08/red-all-over-article Robinson, E., Schofield, C., Sutcliffe-Braithwaite F., & Thomlinson, N. (2017). Telling Stories about Post-war Britain: Popular Individualism and the "Crisis" of the 1970s. *Twentieth Century British History*, 28(2), 268-304. DOI: 10.1093/tcbh/hwx006
- Rustin, M. & Gilbert, J. (2020). The New Left and its legacies. *Soundings*, *74*, 136-163. DOI: 10.3898/SOUN.74.09.2020
- Saunders, R. (2012). 'Crisis? What Crisis?' Thatcherism and the seventies. In B. Jackson & R. Saunders (Eds.), *Making Thatcher's Britain* (pp. 25-42). Cambridge University Press.
- Shalbak, I. (2018). Hegemony thinking: A detour through Gramsci. *Thesis Eleven*, 147(1), DOI: 10.1177/0725513618787660
- Shaw, E. (1994). The Labour Party Since 1979: Crisis and Transformation. Routledge.
- Shepherd, J. (2013). Crisis? What Crisis?: The Callaghan Government and the British 'Winter of Discontent'. Manchester University Press.
- Shock, M. (2020). *Renewing Left-Wing Ideas in Late Twentieth-Century Britain: Marxism Today, c. 1977-1994* [PhD. thesis]. University of Oxford.
- Smith, E. & Worley, M. (2014). *Against the Grain : The British Far Left From 1956*. Manchester University Press.
- Smits, T. (2014). Problems and Possibilities of Digital Newspaper and Periodical Archives. *Tijdschrift voor tijdschriftstudies*, (36), 139-146. DOI: 10.18352/ts.317
- Southgate, B. (2010) Intellectual history/history of ideas. In S. Berger, H. Feldner, & K. Passmore (Eds.), *Writing History : Theory and Practice* (2nd ed., pp. 268-285). Bloomsbury.

- Sutcliffe-Braithwaite, F. (2017). Discourses of 'class' in Britain in 'New Times'. Contemporary British History, 31(2), DOI: 10.1080/13619462.2017.1306199
- Thane, Pat. (2018). *The History of Britain, 1900 to the Present*. Cambridge University Press.
 - The Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica. (2021, July 27). Social Contract. In *Britannica*. Retrieved March 29, 2022, from https://www.britannica.com/topic/social-contract
- Thomas, James. (2005). Popular Newspapers, the Labour Party and British Politics. Routledge.
- Vieira, R. A. (2011). Connecting the New Political History with Recent Theories of Temporal Acceleration: Speed, Politics, and the Cultural Imagination of Fin de Siècle Britain. History and Theory, 50(3), 373-389. DOI: 10.1111/j.1468-2303.2011.00591.x
- Williams, B. (2021). The 'New Right' and its legacy for British conservatism. *Journal of Political Ideologies*, DOI: <u>10.1080/13569317.2021.1979139</u>
- Wilson's Legacy (1995). New Statesman & Society, 8(354).
- Worth, O. (2014). Stuart Hall, Marxism without guarantees, and 'The hard road to renewal'. *Capital & Class*, *38*(*3*), 480-487. DOI: <u>10.1177/0309816814549206</u>

Appendix

The Thesis' Relevance for My Work in the Norwegian Educational System

My personal and academic development for the past year has been immense. For that, I am ever grateful. I believe that the hard work put into my thesis has increased my belief that practice does *not* make perfect. Practice nourishes development. After accepting this I found more joy in my research process. Hopefully, I can transfer this mindset to my future pupils as they work on their projects, where they will inevitably meet resistance and challenges.

Working with a historical thesis has expanded my comprehension of history as an academic practice. This is immensely applicable as my second subject is history. The historical knowledge I gained can be used in teaching situations. Although the thesis appears to be narrow, the historical context (Thatcherism, postwar Britain, and the New Left) are broader topics that can be taught at higher levels in Norwegian Schools.

Through working with primary sources, and especially archives, I have gained substantial knowledge about historical processes. This is relevant for grades 8-13 at different levels of difficulty. As I have been working with an archive, and at all such a detailed thesis, my research skills have assuredly advanced. Through working with a digital archive, it is also clear that my digital competence has developed, which is at the heart of the core curriculum in Norwegian schools.

After 'Fagfornyelsen', the most recent update of Norwegian education principles and curriculums, five basic skills stand as pillars for what the Norwegian youth is supposed to learn in school: reading, writing, numeracy, oral skills and digital skills.²⁵⁵ Indisputably, my research process has added to several of these skills, which will make me better prepared to facilitate in the classroom to ensure similar development in my pupils.

²⁵⁵ Utdanningsdirektoratet. (2020). Core curriculum - values and principles for primary and secondary education. https://www.udir.no/lk20/overordnet-del/prinsipper-for-laring-utvikling-og-danning/grunnleggende-ferdigheter/?lang=eng



